
Date Published: 4 January 2018     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 11 January 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  Improvement Board Update (Pages 7 - 24) Cllr Richard 
Boyles

5  Quality Audit Framework: Progress Update Report (Pages 25 - 28) Neelam 
Bhardwaja

6  Revenue Monitoring (Pages 29 - 36) Suzanne Hall

OVERVIEW ITEM

7  Fostering and Adoption (Pages 37 - 98) Tammy 
Wheatley

Membership – Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Andrew Miller, 
Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman), Cllr Jack Williams and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE



    

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese) and Dr Richard Castle (Primary Sector 
Parent Governor Representative)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Friday 17 November 2017 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Charlotte Blanch
Dr Richard Castle
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Andrew Miller

Cllr Loraine Patrick
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children &  
Young People
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman)
Cllr Jack Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Officers in attendance: Neelam Bhardwaja - Interim Director of Operations and 
Improvement 
Suzanne Hall - Finance Business Partner
Eugene O'Kane – Head of Families, Communities and Partnerships
Justin Grisman – Employment Advisor
Colin Pritchard – Family Support Worker
Issy Trevail – Family Group Conference Coordinator
Sarah Murphy – Service Lead for Family Support

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Richard Castle declared a personal interest as a governor at Gastrells Community Primary 
School. 

Charlotte Blanch declared a personal interest as an adoptive parent, and Headteacher of 
the Catholic School of St Gregory the Great.

22. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS - 14 AND 25 SEPTEMBER 2017 
The minutes of the meeting on Thursday 14 and Monday 25 September 2017 were agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

23. EARLY HELP IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE - FAMILIES FIRST PLUS 
23.1 The committee was pleased to welcome the Head of Families, Communities and 

Partnerships, the Service Lead for Family Support and an Employment Advisor, a Family 
Support Worker and a Family Group Conference Coordinator, to the meeting to discuss 
Early Help. (For information the presentation slides were uploaded to the council website 
and included in the minute book.)

23.2 The committee was aware that early intervention and prevention were important factors in 
supporting children and families; and wanted to gain a more detailed understanding of early 
help support in the county.

23.3 The committee was informed that Working Together to Safeguard Children guidance 
(2015) stated that ‘providing early help is more effective in promoting the welfare of children 
than reacting later. Early help means providing support as soon as a problem emerges, at 
any point in a child’s life, from the foundation years through to the teenage years’. It was 
explained that it was important to understand that early help was not a specific service – 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

but was the help and support provided by a range of agencies including schools, health, 
children and family centres, voluntary sector etc.  Early help involves identifying  what was 
needed and putting together a plan of support around the family, and ensuring activity was 
coordinated between  the council and partners. 

23.4 The Ofsted inspection (2017) findings on early help were positive and reported that ‘the 
restructuring of services  on a locality basis means that early help is becoming more 
responsive to local need; increasing numbers of children have an early help plan; and, 
social workers report that they have a clearer understanding of the services available for 
children and young families’. 

23.5 Members were informed that there were currently around 2000 referrals a month to the 
children’s services ‘front door’. The ‘front door’ has been reconfigured this year to improve 
the process for customers, to enable timely decision making for children (within 24 hours). 
Members questioned whether the flow through the ‘front door’ was analysed so that there 
was an understanding of the type of referrals, for example, whether they met the threshold 
for help, whether they were repeat referrals. In response it was explained that this was the 
rationale for the re-shape that work was currently underway to enable better analysis of the 
data.

23.6 Members were concerned as to whether it was clear how to make a referral. It was 
confirmed that the ‘front door’ telephone number has been widely publicised and a lot has 
been done to ensure that partners knew where to go to get help/advice. It was still the case 
that the majority of contacts to the front door do not require a response from social care 
and that these were the children and families who were re-directed to our early help 
services.

23.7 The Employment Advisor informed members that he was employed by the DWP but was 
co-located within the council as part of the Troubled Families programme. This role 
provided financial expertise and a full understanding of the benefits system, and aimed to 
ensure that families were on a stable financial footing. Significantly the Employment 
Advisor could spend more intensive time with a family than they would be able to receive at 
a Job Centre. The Advisor discussed anonymised cases with the committee to 
demonstrate the positive impact that this approach could have on a family situation. This 
included work on parental aspirations (including thinking about employment options) as 
part of a whole family approach. 

23.8 Members discussed that that there was a view that for some people getting back into 
employment was not a priority. This was acknowledged and it was commented that the 
benefits system did not always help in this respect. However for many families employment 
was about setting a positive example for their children, about aspiration. It was important to 
note that the impact of this type of intervention may  only be evident in the longer term 
e.g.in breaking into the inter-generational cycle.

23.9 In response to a question it was explained that the universal credit system would roll out in 
Gloucestershire in February 2018. Those already on benefits would not be affected until 
2019. The committee was informed that a lot of work has taken place with partners, 
including housing landlords, to inform them of what universal credit would mean for them. 
There was a concern across the board with regard to being able to pay the rent. It was 
clarified that care leavers were exempt from universal credit and would still receive housing 
benefit. 

23.10 Members questioned whether there was still careers advice available within schools. The 
committee was informed that the DWP has a schools liaison officer who organised job fairs 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

and career development opportunities. It was noted that careers advice began at year 7. 
Members were also informed that the Roman Catholic Diocese of Clifton asked its schools 
to hold an Aspirations Week. It was commented that this issue should be a whole family 
approach and start at an early age. However, it was noted that responsibility for this matter 
would be down to individual schools.

23.11 The committee was informed that neglect was a factor in many cases. It was important to 
understand that this did not necessarily need to be managed within the social care system, 
but rather was about putting support into the family at the right time. 

23.12 The family group conference process was explained. This was about empowering the 
family to identify and provide their own solutions to their situation. Professionals were 
involved in this process but the focus was on the family coming up with the plan and being 
supported by professionals. Children had a significant part in this process. If they did not 
feel able to attend the conference then an advocate would represent them. This work was 
integral in trying to prevent the need for social care intervention.  

23.13 Resources were a factor in this work. Members questioned whether there were 
recruitment/retention issues and whether there was a morale issue. In response members 
were informed that turnover was minimal; people tended to stay in post. It was also 
explained that family support workers in Families First Plus  have been  supported to 
achieve NVQ Level 4 qualifications.  It had been recognised that given the very specific set 
of skills required for this work that there had been  limited career pathways  and that 
management resources had been stretched. A re-shape  of line management within 
Families First Plus  had  been undertaken which would provide benefits in terms of support 
for families, clarity of management and improve career options. It was anticipated that the 
benefits of the new structure would be apparent over the short term.  

23.14 It was questioned how success was measured. It was acknowledged that measuring the 
success of prevention  was a complex area with a focus on building longer term support 
around the family.  However, factors such as reducing demand, fewer re-referrals into 
social care  and obtaining feedback from families were  important.  The progress of 
individual families was measured using an outcomes framework which tracked a number of 
indicators including school attendance, improvements in health issues, reductions in 
domestic abuse and improvements in parenting. The same outcomes framework is in use 
in Children and Family Centres so we were able to track the progress of families in the 
same way.  It was also explained that there was a new ICT system in place (the Early Help 
Module in Liquid Logic) used by both Council and Children and Family Centre teams and 
that work was underway with the performance team to develop a dashboard of information 
to measure success.

23.15 There remained concern that there could be families in the county that needed help that 
were not known to services. The committee was informed that it would be unlikely that 
these families were not engaging with services even if they had not come through the early 
help ‘front door’. The committee was also informed that officers worked very closely with a 
range of partners including schools and health services as well as the community 
connectors employed by District Councils.

23.16 The committee welcomed this work, but would want to get a more evidenced-based 
understanding as to whether the restructuring of the service has created a better system for 
children and their families; that decisions were being made within the required timeline; that 
there was a better understanding of the data and what this was telling us about our children 
and families; and in particular whether this was making a real change to families.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

24. OFSTED IMPROVEMENT LETTER OCTOBER 2017 
24.1 The committee had a detailed discussion regarding the content of this letter. A significant 

discussion point related to the recruitment and retention of social workers. This was an 
issue that would not be resolved quickly. The council was drawing on the same pool as 
neighbouring authorities, who have also been judged to be inadequate. Work was in place 
to create an attractive recruitment package. It was noted that additional social workers had 
been recruited but that another 10 were still required to bring the workforce up to full 
strength.

24.2 The issues relating to the recruitment and retention of social workers were also a factor 
with regard to the size of caseloads. The committee was informed that caseloads had 
reduced significantly since the inspection, but were still not at the level that the council 
would want them to be. The Interim Director of Operations and Improvement reviewed 
unallocated cases and those allocated to managers on a weekly basis. The Director was 
clear that when Ofsted returned in January 2018 she did not want to see any unallocated 
cases.

24.3 Members were concerned to read that although our social workers knew and understood 
the children and families they worked with, that they were not recording the information 
appropriately on the system. The Director explained that this was part of practice 
improvement – ensuring that the social work teams understood what a good assessment 
looked like. It was stated that the experience and expertise of the council’s improvement 
partner would support and improve practice and inform a better understanding of what 
good practice looked like. 

24.4 In response to a question members were informed that the letter indicated that morale was 
improving, but that sustained improvement would take time. From the following week all 
heads of service would be based in the locality, and would only come to Shire Hall for 
management meetings. Principal and Consultant Social Workers were now also locality 
based. The Director has visited all localities and also responded personally to any (staff) 
complaints that she received.

24.5 There was concern that Ofsted were reporting that the Police were sending referrals in in 
batches. The Director informed the committee that she had discussed this with the Police 
who indicated that this was happening some time ago and was not the practice when 
Ofsted inspected the council. The Police were on the Improvement Board. The Police had 
also received an equally damning inspection (HMIC National Child Protection Inspections 
February 2017) and wanted to work closely with the council.

24.6 With regard to templates the committee was informed that those used by the council’s 
improvement partner were now being used by social workers. 

24.7 A member of the committee commented that this letter and the performance data 
suggested that the council was slowly moving in the right direction. The Director informed 
the committee that it was a challenge managing the mixed messages received by the 
council. On the one hand it was stated that there was not a quick fix solution and that the 
improvement journey could take up to three years, but then feedback was received that the 
pace was too slow. The Ofsted inspection clearly stated what was required and this 
remained the focus. The safety of children and young people was a paramount concern.

24.8 The committee was clear that it would wish to have a detailed discussion on each 
improvement letter as it was received. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

24.9 At the committee meeting in June 2017 some members indicated that the previous Cabinet 
Member (now no longer a member of this council) should be invited to committee to 
respond to questions as to whether he had been aware of the issues in children’s services 
identified in the Ofsted Inspection report before the Inspection. These members reiterated 
their request. Other members questioned what was to be gained from this exercise and 
that it was better to focus on going forward; on the improvement journey. The majority of 
the committee abstained from the vote on this matter and the proposal was therefore 
carried by three votes.
ACTION: Andrea Clarke

25. IMPROVEMENT BOARD - UPDATE 
In response to questions the Cabinet Member for Children and Yong People explained 
that:-

 The remote working facility was not about social workers working from home but 
rather equipping them to be better able to record their work when visiting children 
and families

 That the social worker recruitment package was due to be with him in December 
2017

 That the appointment process for the senior posts was ongoing, and 
 That the good practice brought into the council by the Interim Director posts would 

remain.

26. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
26.1 The committee was informed that the Leadership Team was working to ensure that 

performance monitoring was embedded at team level. Performance surgeries have been 
held, and team managers were being trained to improve their understanding of what this 
meant for their teams. 

26.2 Members noted that the performance report did show that there was improvement against 
some indicators and that the drift in the system relating to assessments has been 
addressed in the majority of teams; and the number of unallocated cases has significantly 
reduced. 

26.3 The performance report was clear that there were concerns with regard to the Stroud and 
Cheltenham locality teams. Going forward the committee would need to ensure that this 
situation improved.

27. QUALITY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK - HOW AUDITS ARE BEING DONE 
27.1 The committee agreed that this report presented a very unsatisfactory picture of practice. 

Members agreed that quality audits should be an integral part of practice and agreed that 
to see that this was not embedded within the culture was disappointing. 

27.2 The committee would be expecting to see an improvement in this area in future reports.

28. REVENUE MONITORING 
28.1 The Business Finance Partner gave a detailed presentation of this report. Significant costs 

for those children with complex needs remained a particular concern.

28.2 In response to a question it was explained that the costs relating to the Children’s Services 
Improvement Plan were being drawn partly from transformation reserves and partly from 
the children’s services budget. Work was continuing with regard to identifying future costs 
relating to this area of work.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

28.3 It was also explained that the slippage relating to the IRIS project (Intensive Recovery and 
Intervention Service) was because a property had yet to be identified.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 1.15 pm

Page 6



1

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Children’s Services Improvement Board (CSIB) update

Purpose of 
Report

To inform the Committee of the progress being made by CSIB

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

Information

Author

Key Issues:  

The Children’s Services Improvement Board (CSIB) oversees the 
implementation of the Children’s Services Improvement Plan (CSIP) which 
sets out the ways in which the Council intends to improve the performance of 
the service and respond to the Ofsted judgements and recommendations set 
out initially in the Ofsted Inspection report published on the 13th June 2017 
and subsequent quarterly monitoring visits. 

Recommendations to the Committee: 

To receive the report and note the work of the CSIB to date.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None specifically identified in this report other than to note that the County 
Council continues to provide additional resources to support the delivery of the 
CSIP. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2

Report

The Improvement Board is chaired by John Goldup, who represents the DfE. CSIB is 
attended by the Leader of the County Council, Chief Executive GCC, the interim 
Director of Children’s Services GCC and other key partners. The Board role is to 
oversee the implementation of the Improvement Plan.

The Children and Families Scrutiny Committee have already received the reports 
and minutes of the 31st October CSIB board. The CSIB meeting held on 14 
November focused exclusively on the work we are doing to address the culture 
issues identified through Ofsted and other sources. 

The Department for Education undertook a 6 month review of our progress. Officers 
met with staff, managers and senior leaders to discuss our progress. In advance of 
this review meeting, the following report, summarising the County’s view of progress 
against the key questions posed by the DfE, was prepared

1. Introduction

1.1. Since Ofsted we have experienced a significant increase in demand which is 
not uncommon when an authority goes into intervention as confidence in the 
system drops. Our performance information shows this and it does make the 
improvement journey more challenging and affects the timescale for some of 
the key indicators to shift significantly in the right direction. 

1.2. We also know from our new interim improvement team and evidence from 
elsewhere, including discussion with senior colleagues in Essex, that our 
journey will take between 12 and 18 months to get us to where we want to 
be. We are not at all complacent on timescale and if we can accelerate pace 
further we will, and to this end we are learning all the lessons from others 
that we can in order to do so. 

1.3. This report is also being honest about where we are at this time, and openly 
highlights progress to date as well as challenges remaining. We welcome 
constructive challenge on our progress and in particular any suggestions on 
how we might accelerate our journey to becoming a ‘good ‘and sustainable 
Children’s Services. 

2. DfE Question: How confident are you that your services will no longer 
be inadequate a year from now and what are the risks to that 
Improvement?

2.1. Our main source of confidence is that we have captured in the Improvement 
Plan and the GSCB Improvement Plan the key things that must be done to 
improve outcomes for children, young people and families. The Improvement 
Plan is also being translated into specific delivery plans and projects where 
appropriate (One Front Door project/work plan for OLT/Essex contract/‘social 
work not paperwork’/support services plan).

2.2. The plan is regularly monitored by the Improvement Board chaired by John 
Goldup. It has been shared with staff and partners and we have revised our 

Page 8



3

progress reporting to make it easier to determine the speed of progress 
against any item.  

2.3. We believe that some of the actions within the Improvement Plan are 
mission critical and represent the key challenges for us over the next few 
months. Many are about making sure we have the right ‘inputs’ that will drive 
improvement in ‘outcomes’.  These are:

 Developing our Managers and Leaders
 Changing the Culture
 Developing consistent social care work of a high standard
 Ensuring capacity

2.4. Some things can be changed more quickly than others and we have made 
progress on a number of fronts. 

2.5. Firstly there is our leadership of the change agenda. This is demonstrated in 
a number of ways but in particular the Leader of the Council and the Chief 
Executive have made this work their absolute top priority and have left the 
Council as a whole in no doubt about this. The Leader has, for example, 
established a Support Services Group to ensure that Corporate services 
such as Legal, Finance, HR, Property, ICT and Policy and Performance are 
fully engaged and committed to delivering the support the improvement 
journey needs. The group monitors progress against the support services 
plan. As a result of this group the Gloucester social care teams will be in new 
accommodation by Christmas; all social workers will have up-to-date lap 
tops, remote access, good quality connectivity in every office and a smart 
phone. The front door has been moved to its temporary accommodation 
pending a permanent relocation with the MASH in 2018.  

2.6. The Chief Executive has put in place an interim leadership team supported 
by others, including Essex. Resources have been prioritised and increased 
in order to give the Improvement Plan the highest priority.

2.7. The Cabinet Member for Children is engaged in peer support through the 
LGA network and is in touch with other Cabinet Members in the region.  He 
is fully engaged with the Improvement work and makes regular visits to the 
‘front line’.

2.8. The LGA has provided support to the Children’s Scrutiny Committee which 
has allowed for difficult issues to be discussed and to help the Committee 
improve working practices so that it can scrutinise and challenge progress 
and practice in Children’s Services.

2.9. We also know that we need to plan for the long term and to that extent we 
are working in partnership with our commissioning colleagues in Public 
Health to undertake a new needs assessment of our 0-25 population as a 
first step towards developing a new vision, strategy and plan for the future of 
our Children, Young People and Families. This new strategy will be co-
authored and agreed with our partners and we will take advantage of the 
new Working Together guidance to ensure that this can happen in a timely 
way. The needs analysis will be completed in the early part of 2018.

2.10. We hope also to appoint our new Director of Children’s Services in 
December who, in due course, will bring that permanent leadership to the 
journey, building on the strong foundations we believe we are creating 
through our interim Improvement team.

2.11. But the real source of confidence is that we believe we can rebuild our social 
work and early help practice so that it makes better and more timely 

Page 9



4

decisions on intervention and delivers that intervention in a consistent and 
effective way, keeping children, young people and families at the heart of 
what we do.

2.12. We are re building our professional work with the support of Steve Hart and 
Essex who are helping us establish an evidence based approach to social 
work. Focussing on the establishment of a clear understanding of what 
‘good’ looks like; utilising performance information to manage the system 
and based on a well supported and professionally led workforce. We have 
also created a team of Consultant Social Workers, led by the Principal Social 
Worker, who are providing daily coaching, particularly after case audits.  
They are also integral to the Quality Audit training being led by Steve Hart to 
ensure that all our key Heads of Service and Team Managers know how to 
audit and that they have a common understanding of ‘good’.

2.13. We are addressing both the lack of capacity identified by Ofsted and the 
issues of management oversight and professional supervision. Integral to 
this is the work we have begun on ‘culture’ where we want support and 
challenge to go hand in hand.  

2.14. We are working towards a permanent workforce with an average case load 
limit of 18 and possibly lower. This is being achieved in the short term by 
recruiting more agency staff which will in the short term raise the level of 
agency staff to around 15% which is around the national average. The key 
for us is to ensure that we recruit the best agency workers we can, and 
deploy them effectively. We are well on the way to developing our 
Gloucestershire ‘offer’ to social care and related professions in terms of 
recruitment and retention.  We know that reasonable workload, training and 
development, good career progression, good supervision, flexible and 
mobile working, good leadership and management all make for an attractive 
employment package. Plans are being considered by the Council in 
December for implementation in early 2018.

2.15. We are also reviewing our structure to ensure that all qualified social work 
staff are efficiently deployed. In our current structure we have three 
management tiers above practitioners and we are reviewing whether or not 
this is the best model for the future. The development of a new operating 
model is high on our agenda and we will take this forward as soon as we are 
confident that the system is stable and will not be distracted when we 
announce our plans, probably in the early spring.

2.16. In addition we will also progress the ‘Social Work not Paperwork’ project to 
ensure that bureaucracy is reduced and social workers are free to do higher 
quality, direct, relationship based social work.

2.17. The rebuilding and re-launching of our system will also involve more work 
with partners, not just on the issues of practice such as attendance at ICPC, 
but on the way the whole system works. Our plans to have a single front 
door combining our Contact/Triage and MASH in a single location, and with 
single processes, are already underway. In the meantime work to bring them 
together ‘virtually’ is continuing. This will mean more timely and quicker risk 
assessments and referral into the right pathway. This Front Door will also 
include the Early Help system and in addition work is underway to ensure 
that the full opportunities of step-up and step-down are taken by those two 
parts of our system and we will build further ‘edge of care’ work into the Early 
Help offer.   

Page 10



5

2.18. We have also started a dialogue through the GSCB, the Gloucestershire 
Children’s Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board about how to 
make our system much more co-ordinated and effective. The HWB this week 
committed itself to using Adverse Childhood Experiences to think more 
about how to target those that the ACE research shows will be most ‘at risk’.  
The GSCB has challenged partners to improve the quality assurance of their 
own safeguarding performance and the GCP has already met to explore 
issues which they feel are preventing the early help offer being as effective 
as it might be.

2.19. In order to create a better climate to introduce these changes and to address 
culture we are continuing with our programme of Restorative Practice 
training.  We believe this is giving greater clarity to the idea that ‘support and 
challenge’ need to be used in equal measure to improve the service. 
Increasingly, the use of restorative terms are being heard in context, 
demonstrating the purchase that this work is having within the system.

2.20. Demand – with the increase in demand and current pressure of caseloads, it 
is paramount we consider appropriate cases for closure or step-down to 
Early Help services.  An assessment and review project team will be working 
in January, to review with teams and Social Worker’s cases for 
consideration. This will give a more strategic approach to where there is 
possible capacity becoming available as well as support for the closure/step-
down process, while establishing information about demand and actual 
activity within the service.

2.21. Workforce development – to establish an exclusive specialist master-vender 
for Gloucestershire Children’s Services. To work with us in advertising, 
targeting and recruiting a new workforce for Gloucestershire Children’s 
Services, over an extended period of up to five years.

2.22. Sufficiency – to establish a new sufficiency strategy for GCC by April 2018, 
with the clear aim of “first placement right placement” creating placement 
stability. The strategy will look at the wider challenges of care, in preventing 
children and young people where appropriate becoming looked after. But it 
will also have a learning and development work stream so we can embed 
commissioning into practice, ensuring that the process and understanding 
within the workforce is understood and implemented evenly across the 
county. The development of this strategy will include consultation with 
children and young people about their placement journeys, so we 
understand the full impact, area of success and challenge, enabling us to 
establish what “good” looks like.

2.23. Taking the learning from our partners, quality assurance work is currently 
being undertaken.  We are reviewing the outputs and identifying the golden 
threads to inform future developments in practice, service redesign and 
commissioning intentions. This learning will also inform the new Children, 
Young People and Families Strategy as well as developments as part of the 
Gloucestershire Children Services journey.

2.24. Finally the Cabinet is making resources available to both fund the 
Improvement Plan and to ensure we can in the longer term build a 
sustainable social care system here in Gloucestershire.  £2.5m has already 
been allocated for extra staffing and £2m into ‘one off’ projects and 
investments. This is part of an overall £9m growth package for 17/18 of 
which £7m is permanent,  and a further £11m ‘growth’ for 18/19 announced 

Page 11



6

when the Cabinet published the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
December. This represents an £18m increase in resources for Children’s 
Services, and no savings will be required of the service in 2018/19.

2.25. We believe there are 4 fundamental issues that we need to guard against, 
and will be looking for mitigation strategies on each. These are:

 Workforce – failure to recruit permanent staffing and key leaders.
 Social work practice not changing fast enough.
 Leadership and management resistance to change.
 Demand increasing beyond capacity.

3. DfE Question: What assurances can you give that children are now 
significantly safer than they were at the time of the inspection? Have 
timeliness, consistency and quality improved?

3.1. Performance data is now provided through the Corporate Policy and 
Performance Team to ensure that there is a challenge to the service on the 
interpretation and use of data. This was an important response for us to the 
integrity issues raised by Ofsted. The data is produced monthly and a report 
provide by the P&P team. The service has an opportunity to respond to their 
report and plays a part in validating the data.

3.2. We know from the experience of other local authorities that headline 
indicators take some time to change but we need to stress that we are using 
performance data in a number of ways to drive change.

3.3. The data provides some good ‘proxy’ measure of whether children are being 
kept safer by ensuring we are fully aware of timelines and other key events 
in a child’s journey through social care pathways.

3.4. We have seen some positive trends (based on draft report for November):
 Assessments completed in 45 days - those exceeding 45 days have 

reduced from 1496 down to 21 since April
 97% CP now seen on time
 Visits to CiC in time 
 The % of S47 children being seen in time has improved to 76%
 CP over 2 years is reducing
 Allocated cases has increased
 Children in Care with an allocated social worker is now at 100%
 Reduction in cases allocated to managers, and on course to be zero 

by January 2018
 Dormant cases are reducing

3.5. But there are areas where we need to see much better progress:
 ICPC and RCPC on time
 Caseloads need to reduce
 Speed and quality of decision making at the front door and the 

MASH
 Visits to CIN
 Legal proceedings within 26 weeks
 Step-up/step-down

Page 12



7

3.6. We know however that whilst the data suggests that incremental 
improvement is underway our major challenge is in the quality and 
consistency of our practice.

3.7. The evidence from our regular series of moderated audits conducted with 
Steve Hart; from ‘dip samples’ and the first Essex diagnostics indicates that 
we have more work to do to deliver a consistent level of ‘good’ work across 
the service. Below we describe some of the work we are doing to drive up 
quality and performance.

3.7.1. Audit:
 What we’ve done: Following the Ofsted inspection we introduced a 

new Quality Assurance Framework and auditing methodology. This 
was intended to get as many managers as possible, at different 
levels, to become familiar with and applying ‘Good’ whilst evaluating 
the system at scale

 What we’ve learnt: The feedback received in the Ofsted monitoring 
visit, and simultaneously from Steve Hart, was that this approach 
was not introducing understanding, intervention, and change at 
sufficient pace; and that the quality of these audits was too variable 
to sustainably improve our delivery of help, protection, and care.  
This approach has therefore been rapidly revised through October 
and re-launched in November.

 What actions have we taken to address issues that still exist: Whilst 
we are retaining the model of all managers auditing for the 
developmental reasons described above, we have identified 10 of 
our best Auditors to act as a core team undertaking 30 audits a 
month on which we will focus our quality improvement.  There are a 
further 13 auditors that have shown promise and that we are 
developing alongside the core team. There is also an expectation 
that all Heads of Service will demonstrate auditing competence 
(against a competence set) by 31st December 2017. We will also 
formally measure managers’ competence from February 2018 
alongside the developmental activity we initiate with them. 

 What difference have we made (are children safer as a result?):We 
have evidence to suggest that our initial auditing approach was too 
variable to be considered effective so cannot confirm that children 
and young people were safer as a result of this. The latest audits 
were being completed in the w/c 27/11/17 and we will report the 
outcomes to the next Improvement Board.

3.7.2. Performance:
 What we’ve done:

- Introduced corporately owned performance reporting to ensure 
challenge to the service.

- Introduced Web reporting: for managers and Heads of Service to 
access live performance data for their teams (dashboards and 
stats with capability to drill down into lists of children enabling 
them to take remedial action).

- Improved performance reporting at the front door, in particular, 
introducing a ‘date stamp’ to allow us to accurately measure how 
long it is taking until children are seen.

- Improved performance reporting to OLT/SLT.

Page 13



8

- Developed specific new measures/datasets to fill gaps and 
provide better oversight.

- We’ve developed a ‘children requiring attention’ register for cases 
where performance information is suggesting concern (e.g. 
around re-referrals, number of times on CPP, and episodes in 
care).

- Through weekly monitoring of unallocated cases, and cases 
allocated to managers, we are ensuring that numbers are 
reducing week-on-week with a view to no cases being in this 
category when Ofsted visit in January.

 What have we learnt:
- We’ve increased understanding about the importance/value of 

being able to drill down into case lists in order to build confidence 
in the data and identify what needs to be done to improve 
performance; and we’ve learnt that managers will need more help 
and support than originally envisioned in order to make the 
connection between headline performance and the actions 
needing to be taken at team level.

- We better understand the reporting of the complexities of how 
children move through the system; and how to communicate to 
managers for them to see the total amount of time taken (as 
opposed to measuring how long they are at a particular stage in 
the process).

- Reports need to include more analysis/drill-down into team level 
reporting in order to provide Senior Managers better oversight of 
performance.

- We have learnt though, that despite this work, we must still do 
more to understand our strengths and challenges with sufficient 
penetration and to be more responsive, so are investing heavily in 
the ‘performance surgery’ methodology.   

 What actions have we taken to address issues that still exist
- Secured extra capacity within the Data team to increase pace of 

change.
- Rolled out training in using the web reports to all Heads of Service 

& Team Managers.
- Met with colleagues from Coventry to confirm we are on the right 

lines and to compare our reporting capability with theirs which 
dovetails with the performance surgery methodology.

- Brought in an interim to develop a data roadmap based on best 
practice that identifies gaps in our data/reports and when/how 
these will be brought on-line.

- Project to pilot the development of interactive dashboards for 
Front Door (with a view to rolling out elsewhere if successful).

- Brought in additional capacity to help with the development of 
performance analysis and reporting.

- Made changes to Liquid Logic to allow better data capture (time 
stamp) and to reduce duplication of contacts between EHM and 
LCS which were distorting the data.

- We have increased the frequency of reporting.

Page 14



9

- More narrative in reports (rather than relying on stats to speak for 
themselves).Including more detail of individual children 
experiencing drift and delay in system.

- Introduced the performance surgery methodology where live data 
is interrogated to uncover strengths and concerns at service, team 
and individual child-level. Following rapid introductory work in 
October 17, these performance surgeries have been rolled across 
the system at two levels (service and team) through November 
17.  

3.7.3. The service-level surgeries are focused in 3 areas at present: Front Door 
and R&A; C&F; Children in Care and Care Leavers, and are led by Directors.  
Phase II in February 2018 will see us rolling out performance surgeries to 
include Children and Young People with Disabilities, Early Help, and Youth 
Justice. The team level surgeries are led by Heads of Service currently with 
an emphasis on R&A and C&F teams, and the 11-25 teams. Areas that have 
benefited from focus in the surgeries include: children being seen, 
assessments being undertaken, and placement stability. What difference 
have we made (are children safer as a result?):

 We can now measure more precisely and accurately how long 
decisions are taking at the Front Door, and how long it is taking to 
see children, allowing managers to take action to address and 
reduce delay.  

 Senior managers have better oversight of performance, and are able 
to distinguish more easily between performance at team, inter-team, 
and service level.

 We are better identifying those children who need to be allocated in 
order that they can receive the help they need.

 Furthermore, the performance surgeries are rapidly identifying 
issues at the following levels and assigned accountability to address 
actions at each:
- Individual children needing improved help and protection are 

identified within these surgeries – e.g. those that have been on a 
CP plan for longer than 18 months  

- Team/service-level phenomena are identified – e.g. cohorts where 
children have been visited but the recording has failed to reflect 
this, versus those not being visited  

- Pathway phenomena – e.g. interfaces causing delay
 Through the action logs from the performance surgeries, and 

monitoring the relevant data foci, we are now better placed to 
demonstrate activity that is under way towards making individual 
children, and groups of children, safer; e.g. timely visits, Head of 
Service oversight of cases, timelier CP reviews.  

3.7.4. Dip sampling:
 What we’ve done: Following the Ofsted monitoring visit in September 

2017, we investigated through intensive dip sampling the 13 areas 
identified in the monitoring letter that required improvement.  

 What have we learnt: This work identified five areas for urgent 
remediation: Management oversight, Risk/Protection, Planning, 
Proportionate volume and complexity of work (for staff and 
managers), Retaining focus on children. These areas were found to 

Page 15



10

have causal or correlational links to effective/ineffective help and 
protection of children and young people

 What actions have we taken to address issues that still exist: The 
report has been shared at both Senior Leadership Team and Joint 
Leadership Team meetings with preliminary action-planning.  Formal 
action planning will be undertaken at the senior Leadership Meeting 
in December.  

 What difference have we made (are children safer as a result?): In 
the main the improvement activity framed through the dip sample will 
need to be enacted before we are able to demonstrate 
improvements.  (That is, apart from those fed through to the internal 
‘Cases of Concern’ register described below).  

3.7.5. Triangulation:
 What we’ve done:

- Through our new intensive quality and performance process we 
have identified specific children at risk, or potentially at risk, of 
harm. We are tracking these with the respective managers and 
practitioners to ensure that our protection of these children is 
timely, consistent and effective. This register will be included in 
the ‘cases requiring attention’ spreadsheet that forms part of 
ongoing improvement planning.  

- From the 30th November we are doing a desktop triangulation 
exercise between quality and performance strategic leadership to 
inform strategic action (including, dip sampling, audits, 
performance and performance surgeries, and the Essex 
diagnostic reports).  

- We have a forum for Team Managers to triangulate learning from 
audit data and customer feedback. In addition the new 
coaching/mentoring capacity provided by consultant social 
workers directly to practitioners, is informed by the triangulated 
findings.  In this vein, the focus of the Consultant Social Workers 
is currently on assessment to support practitioners and managers 
to improve the quality and effectiveness of assessments in real-
time

 What have we learnt: 
- Through reviews of the performance data, Essex diagnostic 

feedback, performance surgeries, and feedback from the frontline 
we identified further challenges in the interfaces between teams 
relative to threshold decisions and timeliness. The Director has 
set clear expectations about managing thresholds internally to 
overcome these disruptive inter-team interfaces.  We are currently 
dip sampling some of these issues to better understand the 
issues.

- We are increasingly able to co-ordinate our intelligence 
thematically across the system and more specifically around 
individual teams.  

 What actions have we taken to address issues that still exist:
- We will be tracking all actions from performance surgeries with 

accountability resting at HoS level to resolve these urgently and 
report on resolution.

Page 16



11

- We will also be re-running dip samples on ‘Protection’ on a 
fortnightly basis to track system improvement, but also to identify 
any cases warranting improvement and tracking via the internal 
‘Cases of Concern’ register.

- We will re-run our 13 thematic dip samples in quarter 4 17/18 to 
measure distance travelled.

- We will increasingly build team profiles and action plans from the 
triangulated information to inform team-based improvement 
activity

 What difference have we made (are children safer as a result?):
- A major challenge for us is to translate much of the above activity 

into better outcomes and we know that this will require significant 
development of our managers.  We do feel however that we have 
some evidence that our approach will eventually improve 
outcomes across the service, and our Cheltenham office offers a 
good example. 

- In Cheltenham we have a new Head of Service that is used to this 
approach and there is both anecdotal and performance data to 
suggest things are improving. He has, for example, been able to 
reduce a backlog of 75 assessments over 45 days to zero and 
has worked with social workers to close cases that require no 
further action so they can concentrate on ‘live’ cases. He provides 
his social workers with ‘timeliness’ and ‘visits up to date’ data 
every week and uses this to tackle the fact that too many have not 
been recording their visit as having been done on the system, 
which means our data under-reports their work. The HoS would 
agree there is still more work to be done, but we think 
Cheltenham is beginning to illustrate how we want our localities to 
operate.

4. DfE Question: What actions have you taken to urgently strengthen 
management oversight and what evidence do you have if its impact? 

4.1. We consider management oversight to have at least three dimensions – 
Strategic oversight, Operational oversight and oversight of social 
work/cases.   

4.2. The Senior Leadership Team meets regularly and provides the strategic 
leadership for the improvement programme including where appropriate 
agreeing actions that need to be taken to ensure that the plan is delivered.   
SLT endorsed the plans for the quality audit work being led by Steve Hart; 
the roll out of the plans for the web-based performance reports and the 
performance clinics. A new performance framework has been considered but 
a decision taken to modify this to become a quality assurance and 
performance framework. SLT regularly receives the monthly performance 
report to debate progress; and, it reviews the Improvement Plan progress to 
ensure matters are being dealt with in a timely manner.  We feel that SLT is 
giving the right leadership messages to staff at this time.

4.3. Operational Heads meet on a weekly basis in the Operational Leadership 
Team. The agendas for these meetings have included items focussing on 

Page 17



12

the need to improve management and oversight. In particular OLT signed off 
a revised supervision policy and it has been made clear that our expectation 
is that all social workers have regular supervision and that this is recorded in 
Liquid Logic (LL). Communication lines have been issued to operational 
leads to ensure that there is absolute clarity on what must be done. OLT 
ensures that the regular performance meetings are being held in localities 
and that data is being used to effectively manage the service. OLT considers 
the feedback from the Essex diagnostics and will play a key role in ensuring 
action plans are developed and delivered. OLT has also prioritised input 
from Occupational Health to understand how best to support teams and 
individuals in relation to the demands of social care practice and the 
improvement journey.

4.4. The following are the short term priorities for OLT:
 Weekly monitoring of unallocated cases and cases allocated to 

managers to ensure the numbers are reducing week on week with 
view to no cases being in this category by January. 

 Ensure that monthly and fortnightly performance surgeries are 
embedded both at strategic (Head of Service level) and Locality level 
respectively so that managers at all levels understand the 
significance of data, how it relates to keeping children safe and the 
importance of interrogating data followed by corrective actions being 
taken. 

 Continue to stress the importance of and monitor the timeliness in 
relation to:
- Children being seen
- Assessments being completed
- Cases being stepped down, escalated or closed

 Continue to develop the focus on the Audit process. Ensure that 
training is in place for all Heads of Service to be competent auditors 
by the end of December and Team Managers by end of March (with 
training starting in January).

 All outstanding PDRs to be completed by end of December 2017. 
 Ensure that Heads of Service and Team Managers develop and to 

have a SMART action plans following their Essex diagnostic.
 Set and deliver clear expectations about managing threshold 

internally and check through cross service ‘dip sampling’.
 Work in close collaboration with colleagues to ensure timely 

recruitment of agency staff and prioritise areas of greatest need.
 Ensure that HoS are monitoring the recording of supervision on LL.

4.5. Nevertheless the early messages from the Essex work confirm that there is 
still much to be done to ensure management oversight of cases is improved.  
This has also been confirmed by our own regular ‘dip sampling’ which OLT 
has arranged covering the 13 themes from our September Ofsted monitoring 
visit.

4.6. OLT is running along a ‘cycle of improvement’ model whereby it is using the 
data collected from these sources to both challenge current practice and to 
evolve solutions that improve practice, some of which is simply about 
compliance with existing procedures. In recent weeks one such focus has 
been on the standards we expect to be delivered in terms of timeliness and 

Page 18



13

other matters and a new Standards Policy will be approved in December 
2017.  OLT will monitor adherence to the standards.  

4.7. OLT has been very much focussed on the overall challenge of improving our 
social work practice and recognises that management oversight must be 
improved and demonstrated.

4.8. As a further illustration, OLT recently decided on a joint ‘dip sample’ on 
contacts/referrals coming from the Front Door and MASH involving the Head 
of Service for Cheltenham to ensure that a perspective from both sending 
and receiving sections in the service were represented.

4.9. As mentioned above OLT is overseeing the roll out of our performance clinic 
approach and to date there have been 14 sessions attended by 61 
Managers and Deputy Team Managers. 

4.10. The impact of this work has yet to be felt in full across the service and 
evidence from our ‘dip ‘samples; quality audits and the Essex diagnostics 
confirms we have much more work to ensure all our Managers can operate 
at the standard we have now set. For example several key managers are 
being trained as part of the QA programme to improve their audit skills as 
the standard they displayed in previous audits was not high enough.  

4.11. We also know that not all our managers are proficient at using performance 
data to manage the service and in particular how to use it to ensure that 
case progression and quality is good and timeliness is being adhered to.

4.12. We also think that the climate is shifting in a positive direction and we asked 
the Principal Social Worker (also a member of the Improvement Board) to 
record his observations:

4.12.1. ‘There is some encouraging progress evidenced across the service of 
increased manager presence and focus, linking to an awareness of why 
improvement is required and greatly increased attention to how it can be 
achieved. I can recognise this in several activities:

 The increased visibility, engagement with staff and solution focus 
demonstrated by some heads of service within teams.

 The receptiveness and participation of managers and social workers 
in this increased involvement, and the expectations around 
discussion, challenge and support that this has generated. 

 The prompt and considered  introduction of a Quality Assurance 
Framework that has acknowledged and adjusted focus and 
expectations of the purpose  of audit, through identifying  previous 
mistakes.  What difference are we making? 

 Quick identification of necessary changes to the framework in 
recognition that we don’t yet share a consistent, methodical or 
impact focussed approach to audit, and the promotion of a core 
group of auditors able to model and expects standards and 
encourages ownership across the service. 

 The positive reception from heads of service, managers and social 
workers to the reliable information provided by both service level and 
team level performance surgeries, where key focus on the impact of 
social work intervention is connected to reliable data based 
evidence.

 The comprehension and enthusiasm demonstrated by heads of 
service and managers in accessing team level web reports, enabling 

Page 19



14

focus, accuracy and accountability for data, and an awareness of 
this as a measure of impact. 

 The increasing involvement in teams and positive responses to the 
Coaching and Mentoring Framework linked to audit findings and 
performance data. A focus by consultant and principal social workers 
on key improvement areas within teams, targeting individual and 
team practice and how basic practice areas are identified and 
addressed by managers. 

4.12.2. This progress needs to be considered with the following cautions:
 Whilst audit has strengthened and named expectations and 

comprehension by managers and heads of service about outcomes 
and impacts of our social work involvement, the continued findings 
from focussed audits and dip samples do not yet reflect the impetus 
that these various positive activities would suggest. 

 Social workers and managers continue to emphasise that case loads 
are impacting on their ability to provide focus, purpose and pace to 
their involvement with children. They understand and welcome the 
increased attention to this key issue by senior leaders. 

 Social work staff continue to state they recognise the need for 
improvement and are able to clearly connect this to their integral role 
improving outcomes for children. My view, reflecting the opinions 
shared in the social work health check, RiP consultation and 
continued contacts with staff at all levels, is that further progress is 
dependant on senior leadership actions and strategic decisions 
evidencing further commitment to restorative principles, to enable 
the continued cultural shifts required.

 Urgent consideration and analysis is needed from the operation 
leadership team of the recent dip sample findings (on manager 
oversight, risk management and planning)  and continued visible 
direction is required to ensure that all levels of the workforce remain 
involved and included in the cultural changes required.  Increased 
leadership from all managers is required, defining, setting and 
expecting very clear boundaries and standards with social workers, 
and providing support in equal measure. ‘

4.13. We agree with his analysis and will use this and other evidence to continue 
to focus on management oversight as a key issue for us. This will, for 
example, be a major consideration for HR as they develop a new 
professional development offer for our managers in the future.

4.14. In the meantime the QA programme, ‘dip sampling’, supervision of 
managers, the performance clinics and OLT will continue to emphasise the 
need for improvement in management oversight. The area in which we need 
to see greater progress is in the daily management and oversight of social 
work.  This will continue to be a major challenge for OLT to manage over the 
next few months.

5. DfE Question: What is your strategy and plan for achieving culture 
change and do you have any evidence yet of positive shifts in culture?

Page 20



15

5.1. It is important that we emphasise that this has at least two aspects.  One is a 
culture that respects ‘challenge’ and does not tolerate ‘bullying’. The other is 
a professional culture that knows what ‘good’ is and works to achieve this 
consistently in all cases. Much of the work described above relates to the 
professional culture. We have also agreed at a recent Improvement Board 
(14 November) our plans and strategy for changing the working culture.  

5.2. In brief the Council has accepted the Ofsted findings and instigated work to 
get more evidence on what is happening and what needs to be changed. In 
summary:

 An independent investigation was instigated into the three offices 
cited by Ofsted, which found that there was evidence of both 
inadequate and good management practice. There were some 
examples of bullying, but no evidence of a ‘culture of bullying’.  
Where management practice was poor it was due to a range of 
factors.

 An extensive Social Work health check was undertaken in 
February/March. This has given us both positive and negative 
feedback, but has given us clarity on what needs to be changed.

 ‘Research in Practice’ held a workshop with 22 professionals and 
highlighted key areas to improve as: communication; leadership and 
vision; support and relationships. 

 A concerted effort has gone into ‘exit interviews’ and the common 
themes identified which include: culture; work /life balance; caseload 
/workload as reasons to leave but also identified some positives 
such as training and development.

 An employee survey was conducted in October 2017 and the results 
have been analysed. Generally the Children’s Service lags behind 
the whole Council results.

 200 plus social work staff attended ‘Visions and Values’ workshops 
in October as part of our work to improve both.

5.3. The above provided valuable information and evidence upon which we have 
set out our plan for culture change which we have captured on our culture 
change wheel. 

5.4. We know there is much more to do but we were encouraged by the feedback 
from the September 2017 Ofsted monitoring visit which identified some 
positive signs that our ‘culture’ is changing. 

6. DfE Question: Do you think that partners are effectively engaged in the 
improvement journey and can you give some examples of this?

6.1. The GSCB reviewed and re-launched its escalation policy in response to the 
Ofsted recommendations.

6.2. Partners have produced their own action plans which are aligned to the 
wider GSCB Improvement Plan. These include SMART outcomes and will 
be tested through the GSCB S11 self-assessment that is currently taking 
place and the work of the Multi-Agency Quality Assurance Sub-Group.  In 
line with the GSCB’s own Ofsted recommendations, the focus is on 
performance management, quality assurance, learning from SCRs and 
embedding the learning from training.

Page 21



16

6.3. As a result of the discussion that took place at the additional GSCB 
Executive Committee meeting, Gloucestershire Care Services (community 
trust delivering health visitor and school nurse service) have embarked on an 
audit looking at GCS staff involvement in strategy meetings and their own 
understanding of thresholds.  Findings will be shared with MAQuA and linked 
with multi-agency audit findings to highlight where the key areas of focus 
need to be from a partnership perspective.

6.4. Partner agencies are identifying key performance indicators in relation to 
safeguarding children which will be incorporated into internal performance 
management frameworks and shared with the GSCB to ensure that there is 
a comprehensive knowledge and understanding of how children are being 
kept safe in Gloucestershire and areas of concern are appropriately 
challenged.  

6.5. The GSCB performance dataset has already been updated to reflect some 
of the areas of concern, such as attendance at CP conferences and receipt 
of conference reports.  Other developments are being progressed – 
timeliness and attendance at strategy discussions, contacts by source, 
referrals by source etc which will enable to GSCB to have greater oversight.

6.6. The Clinical Commissioning Group has set up clear arrangements with the 
GSCB Business Unit to support and encourage staff in Primary Care to 
attend level 3 safeguarding training.  This includes GPs and some Practice 
Nurses.  Attendance will be monitored and followed up at 3 months to be 
able to measure the difference that the training has had on everyday 
practice.  Although this is in line with expected practice, the CCG have taken 
a pro-active approach to improving attendance at multi-agency training by 
GPs.

6.7. Partners have confirmed that all relevant staff receive information in relation 
to the levels of Intervention guidance, Information Sharing guidance and 
Escalation of Professional Concerns guidance as part of their induction 
process.  Again, this will be tested out through the GSCB S11 self-
assessment that is currently taking place.

6.8. The GSCB continues to share messages with partners through the GSCB 
alert system which is signed up to by over 3000 professionals working with 
children and families. Recent alerts have included information in relation to 
the Levels of Intervention guidance, re-launch of the Escalation of 
Professional Concerns guidance, the launch of the YP DASH and 
accompanying guidance, the GSCB Child Neglect Toolkit and the Joint 
Section 47 Enquiry Protocol.

6.9. The Gloucestershire Children’s Partnership held a specific session to 
consider understanding and application of thresholds at a meeting on the 23 
November.   This was well attended by partner organisations and generated 
good discussion and debate as well as actions for how the guidance could 
become more interactive to assist practitioners in their decision making.  
Bespoke training in relation to Levels of Intervention (thresholds) is also 
being considered by the GSCB Business Unit and Families First Plus 
Service Manager.

6.10. The recent Designated Safeguarding Lead forums for educational settings 
demonstrated a good understanding of the GSCB Neglect Strategy and 
Child Neglect toolkit.   A number of schools stated that they have used the 
toolkit and find it a useful tool to help understand and identify children who 

Page 22



17

might be experiencing neglect.  The S175 self-assessment currently being 
completed by educational settings asks schools to state how often they use 
the toolkit, which will provide a baseline to be taken forward.

6.11. The recent Designated Safeguarding Lead forums for educational settings, 
which were attended by over 240 education professionals, covered a broad 
agenda of key safeguarding issues such as e-safety, stalking and 
harassment, Dangerous Drug Networks and County Lines, the importance of 
a culture of gender equality and the implementation of the child neglect 
strategy.  There was really positive feedback received from those who 
attended and a newsletter is currently being produced as a result which will 
be shared with all schools and settings.

6.12. On behalf of the Serious Case Review Sub-Group of the GSCB, a multi-
agency learning review took place on the 23rd November.  This was a 
thematic learning review considering non-accidental injuries in young 
children and was attended by over 50 professionals including midwives, 
health visitors, police, early help, early years, social care, substance misuse 
services, GDASS, paediatricians, GPs, NICU and Prospects.  The learning 
review was as a result of a number of cases that were considered by the 
SCR Sub-Group which did not meet the criteria for a SCR.  The cases were 
used as a window on the wider system and the event included consideration 
of the local and national data, the latest research and resulted in a solution 
focussed session for what we need to do differently in Gloucestershire.  The 
findings and actions are currently being written up and will be presented 
back to the SCR Sub-Group and shared across the wider workforce.

7. DfE Question: How are you going to accelerate the pace of 
Improvement?

7.1. We think it is important to set the context in which we are working.  One of 
the most important elements of our improvement plan is to work with Essex 
as our improvement partner. This work has only recently started due to the 
availability of the Essex team but we are pleased to say that diagnostics 
have now been completed on three localities - Cheltenham, Stroud and 
Tewkesbury, and the Front Door/MASH has also been completed. The work 
programme leads to our first quality assurance meeting with Essex in 
January. This work will gather momentum as we translate analysis into 
action plans and ensure they are delivered.

7.2. We have illustrated above that where “Pace” can most easily be accelerated 
we have done so, for example:

 Changes to senior leadership team – exited previous team, built an 
interim team, and now recruiting for permanent team.

 Created a corporate performance management system to support 
the Children’s Service.

 Drift and delay: S47 visit timeliness tackled; CP and CiC now seen 
on time; overdue assessments hugely reduced.

 Reducing (eliminating) cases held by Managers.
 Immediate action was taken to improve retention by offering a 

quarterly retention payment.

Page 23



18

 ICT have delivered a full audit of equipment including purchase and 
configuring over 400 smart phones (many now distributed) and 500 
lap tops are being  distributed with full mobile connectivity.  All social 
work staff are therefore being equipped as a matter of priority.

 Property have prioritised the completion of new accommodation for 
the Gloucester teams and the ‘Front Door’.

7.3. The big challenge is that a lot of our evidence to date suggests that the 
understanding of what is ‘good’ practice is variable across the service and it 
needs to be more consistent.  We have taken steps to ensure that Managers 
are focussed on reducing ‘drift and delay’; improve supervision and 
oversight; and ensure children are safe though regular visits, will not in 
themselves achieve the culture shift we need. On the basis of our audit and 
other work the next step in increasing Pace will be  to do more work in team 
training sessions on what ‘good’ practice looks like and how they can 
achieve it. This can now be achieved as we have identified more resources 
for the quality work and have built a substantial evidence base which can be 
used to illustrate what we need from our social workers and their managers.  

7.4. In summary we think we have provided  evidence of ‘pace’ in terms of our 
investment; strategy; leadership; systems; culture; performance data and its 
use; and, capacity. Where we are now focussed is on ensuring we see 
greater ‘pace’ in the delivery of better outcomes in terms of timeliness; 
consistency; and the overall quality of our social care practice. We have 
described above how we are trying to achieve this through the web data; QA 
training and development; consultant social workers, setting standards and 
engaging in a substantial number of ‘dip samples’ to ensure we base our 
discussions on evidence. These messages will filter down through regular 
supervision and oversight and we hope for further improvement in our 
performance indicators in the next 3 months.

8. Conclusion

We know that the total transformation we require needs to reach every social worker 
in the County and this will inevitably take time as we address our issues.  We believe 
however that Pace has increased in the last few months and that it will again 
increase significantly as we get momentum from the key service interventions we 
have described above.

Page 24



1

Report on Progress and impact of the Quality Assurance Framework
To Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Date of meeting 11.01.2018
Author Cathy Griffiths, Head of Quality (Children & Young People

Quality Assurance

The previously approved Quality Assurance Framework has been modified to become an 
integrated Performance Management and Quality Assurance Framework. This sets out the 
interdependencies between 

a) audit (monthly, in depth activity by a core group of auditors), 
b) dip sampling (checking 50+ files on a chosen theme) and 
c) performance surgeries (scrutinising the data at strategic and child level). 

With this in mind, this progress report includes those three aspects. 

Action Taken:

 Audit: The audit methodology has been adjusted to tackle the variability in audits 
referenced in previous audit reports and noted by Ofsted. 

 Dip Sampling: Intensive dip sampling of 13 areas identified in the Ofsted monitoring 
letter was completed; and we have scheduled to do the same following the Ofsted 
visit in January. 

 The Performance Team’s register of ‘children requiring attention’ - where 
performance data suggests concerns - now includes children escalated through 
audit. A newly appointed Quality Manager is working closely with the performance 
team to track actions on behalf of those children. 

 Performance Surgeries were introduced at two levels (service and team) throughout 
November and December. Live data is interrogated to uncover strengths and 
concerns at service, team and individual child-level.  This may trigger a dip sample.

 The first of monthly desktop ‘triangulation exercises’ has taken place. These will 
identify the relationships between audit findings, performance data, customer 
feedback, Essex diagnostics at team level, findings from SCRs and GSCB 
escalations between partners. These will be informed by quarterly forums with team 
managers, to make sure the strategic level view includes frontline experience. 

 Consultant Social Workers, as a result of the findings from audit and the 
triangulation exercise, have begun to extend their current ‘real time’ coaching of 
SWs on the frontline, from a focus on assessments to include a focus on children’s 
plans. An interim evaluation report of their work is currently being undertaken. 

 We have developed and implemented a new auditing competency framework that 
our Heads of Service are required to demonstrate competence in. Team managers 
will be inducted to this from February onwards. This will standardise both our 
understanding of ‘Good’ across the system and the quality of our auditing. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



2

Learning:

 19 audits in October 2017, found pockets of good practice (reduction of risk, swift 
response to audit action) but found management oversight is insufficient across 
assessment, risk management and planning. 

 This correlated with a dip sample on management oversight of 25 cases within the 
11-25 service, where a significant area for development was to consistently 
evidence reflective supervision and management input.   

 The dip sample of 13 areas (and over 500 cases) identified 3 areas for urgent 
remediation: Management oversight; Risk management; and planning. The dip 
sampling also found these to be inextricably linked to a) volume and complexity of 
work (for staff and managers) and b) the need to retain our complete focus on 
children. 

 Through the combination of audit, dip samples and performance surgeries we have 
identified specific children potentially at risk. These are being raised with the 
respective managers and are being tracked to check actions are followed through.  

 Performance surgeries have drilled down into the data at case level, to better 
understand what needs to be done to improve performance. Consequent dip 
samples are underway in relation to managing thresholds, towards addressing 
ineffective interfaces between teams.   

 November audits were moderated by Steve Hart (ex Ofsted inspector) in December 
(write up awaited). This indicated good or satisfactory auditing by a core group of 11 
auditors, but also that competence in auditing amongst our Heads of Service is 
variable and more developmental work (provided by Steve Hart) is required. 

What difference has this made? 

 Our initial auditing approach was too variable so cannot confirm that children and 
young people are safer as a result. The focus now is on a) addressing that 
variability, whilst not losing the validity the audit actions that followed; and b) making 
sure those actions are completed on behalf of children. 

 Consultant Social Workers report that in their view, the improved data on timeliness 
of assessment is related to 3 things: performance surgeries; increased visibility of 
Heads of Service communicating clear expectations on the issue; and improved 
confidence with SWs they are supporting. 

 There is an observable shift in understanding of the link between strategic data and 
individual children - some individual children are receiving increased focus as a 
result. Improvement activity checked through the dip samples will need to be 
enacted before we are able to demonstrate a link to better outcomes for children 

 The performance team report that some positive trends in a number of areas 
coincides with the introduction of performance surgeries; increase in assessments 
completed in 45 days and also within 10 days; children seen and visits on time; and 
significantly increased Head of Service response to questions raised by the 
‘children of concern’ register. 

Page 26



3

Next Steps

 December’s audits will have focussed on children’s plans (quality and impact) and 
will again be moderated independently by Steve Hart (5th January 18). The results 
of November and December audits, both moderated with Steve, will be reported on 
together. 

 A draft Standards document has been produced. HR and the Performance team are 
currently checking that all the right links (culture, timeliness P.I’s) are included prior 
to sign off . Engagement with staff on the standards will be from January 2018. 

  Our Consultant Social Workers, led by the Head of Quality, will continue to  
increase and expand their daily coaching to SWs to include both assessments and 
plans. The third CSW vacancy has been filled and this support will be assigned to 
locality teams in Stroud. 

 Dip samples on ‘Protection’ will be run by a newly appointed Quality Manager on a 
fortnightly basis, to track progress and identify any cases warranting escalation  via 
the Cases of Concern’ register.

 Further Performance Surgeries will be rolled out in February 18 to include the 
Children and Young People with Disabilities Service, Early Help, and Youth Justice.

 We are running a ‘Leading Performance Surgeries’ workshop with those leading 
service-level performance surgeries in January and are likely to extend this to those 
running team-level surgeries in February.

 We will be working with teams to share the Practice Standards, Ofsted Judgements 
and the auditing methodology early in 2018 to standardise the expectations of 
practice across the system.

The Quality Assurance activity – including audit, dip sampling and performance surgeries 
– will continue to emphasise the need for improvement in the daily management oversight 
of social work practice. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Purpose

To provide the budget forecast outturn figures for the 2017/18 revenue budgets.

The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Level Agreements (SLAs), contracts or specific areas with 
DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG variances identified. 

DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £426 million. Of this total, £335 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, 
high needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the 
Local Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, 
additional SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges.

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Overall Position

The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at November 2017 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend position of £9,384,000 (9.56% of budget). The over-spend 
reduces to £6,338,000 after the vulnerable children’s reserve has been applied. Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be under-spent by £2,619,000 which 
includes uncommitted balances brought forward from 2016/17.

The significant rise in children coming into care (November 2017 645 cases compared to 
April 2014 479) is continuing to cause significant pressures on children’s services and in 
particular against the external placement and safeguarding budgets resulting in the over-
spend. Significant contingencies were put in place to cover the cost of envisaged increases 
in children in care following the recent Ofsted Inspection. Although activity has risen, the 
expected increases in activity have not materialised to date, however individual placement 
costs for some young people have been exceptionally high. The contingencies set aside to 
mitigate the impact within the external placement budget have been used to meet the cost of 
these expensive placements. 

The costs relating to the implementation of the Improvement Plan are estimated to be £2.61 
million following a review of what is required in both children’s and support services. Part of 
the total cost (£1.4m) will be funded from within the service area using one-off funding 
approved as part of the 2017/18 budget and unallocated contingencies, with the balance of 
£1.21 million funded from the Transformation Reserve.

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this 
report, based on actual expenditure to the end of October 2017 and forecasts input in 
November 2017.

Gloucestershire County Council

2017/18 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Commissioner Director: Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis
Year-End Forecast input in November 2017

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



2.2 Variance Summary

Significant non-DSG variances are as follows:-
 Children in Care – over-spend against the external placement budget of £7,443,000 

(77.1% of budget) is the significant part of the total over-spend of £7,686,000.
 Safeguarding – staffing budgets have received £3,700,000 investment in total in two 

phases since 2016/17. Recruitment of experienced social workers continues to be 
challenging and agency staff have continued to cover staff vacancies or where 
caseloads remain high. The staffing budgets are forecasting to be £647,000 over-spent. 
Section 17 and discretionary payments for children in care are forecasting an over-spend 
of £579,000 (93.7% of the budget). 

 Quality – over-spend of £350,000 forecast due to the use of agency staff to cover the 
number of child protection conferences required. 

 Early Years - £166,000 forecast over-spend relates to commissioning contracts within 
children’s centres.

 Young People support – forecast over-spend of £298,000 due to the cost of agency 
staff covering vacancies in the youth support teams to support the number of children in 
care.

 Regulated Services – the forecast under-spend of £185,000 is due Special 
Guardianship Orders over-spending by £470,000 due to the increased number of orders 
made. This is being offset by an under-spend on adoption of £359,000 and fostering 
services of £273,000. 

 Disabled Children & Young People Services is under-spending by £221,000 due to 
staffing vacancies.

 Other variances – over-spends totalling £64,000 across a number of areas.

Significant DSG variances are as follows:-
 School DSG balances carried forward from 2016/17 of £3.88 million which are not 

committed in-year.
 Pressure on top up budgets are resulting in a forecast over-spend of £635,000 
 SEN – the over-spend against the Independent Special Schools of £750,000 is due to 

increased activity and staffing overspends of £138,000 are the significant part of the total 
over-spend of £917,000.  

 Improving Outcomes Vulnerable Children - £655,000 of unallocated high needs 
funding has been declared as uncommitted in-year but alternative provision school top 
ups are forecasting to over-spend by £247,000 

 Other variances – there are a number of other over-spends totalling £117,000 across a 
range of services.

2.3 Underlying Financial Considerations

The outturn forecast summarised above is based on the following key financial information:
 Following the publication of the Ofsted report, an improvement plan has been put in 

place and the financial implications of the plan have been identified; total estimated cost 
of £2,608k. The full impact of the Ofsted report on social care activity is difficult to predict 
but a higher number of children in care has been allowed for. The retention of social 
work staff may also be affected therefore there is a risk of higher agency staff costs in 
year. 

Page 30



 The MTC targets for 2017/18 total £10,073,000 and are forecast to underachieve by 
£150,000 mainly due to the implementation of new contracts for children’s centres which 
reflects one off costs borne this financial year.

3. Detailed Analysis

An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments:
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) Commissioning Director: Children & 

Families – SLA format
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) – High Risk Analysis
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Agency Placements

The detailed analysis is set out under the lead commissioner areas:-

3.1 Lead Commissioner Education and Skills 
 Schools - uncommitted balances brought forward from 2016/17 total £3,880,000. The 

use of these balances and future commitments are being discussed at Schools Forum. 
Top up budgets on mainstream schools are over-spending by £636,000 due to the level 
of need identified.

 SEN - . Independent Special Schools are forecasting an over-spend of £750,000 due to 
increased activity and Special Educational Needs services are declaring a £360,000 
over-spend due to staffing costs. 

 The top up budgets for alternative provision schools are over-spending by £247,000 
which is offset by high needs unallocated DSG of £655,000 where balances are 
uncommitted in year.

The council’s High Needs Programme will, in part, be focussing upon independent special 
school placements and over time should reduce the financial pressure in this area.  SEN 
staffing costs will be addressed by year end through a restructure of education services.

3.2 Lead Commissioner Families
There are significant pressures on budgets related to operational social care services. This 
relates to the demand for child protection services and the number of children in care. 
Details include:-
 Children in Care – the external placement budget is forecasting a £7,443,000 over-

spend (77.1% above budget). There are currently 246 external placements, compared 
with 221 at the same point last year. Anticipated numbers of young people coming into 
care have not materialised, however the spend has increased due to several extremely 
expensive placements for young people with complex needs. The IRIS  project is being 
developed to look at reducing residential costs by supporting young people to step down 
to foster care or to return home. A contingency of £793,000 is currently being held to 
cover new cases. Activity information for the last few years is presented in attachment 3. 

 Regulated services - Adoption services are expecting to under-spend by £359,000 by 
the end of the financial year mainly due to £367,000 over achievement of income from 
inter agency placements and lower commitments against allowances. The Special 
Guardianship Order budget is forecast to over-spend by £470,000 due to the continued 
increased number of orders made but this is being partly offset by under-spends within 
fostering services of £273,000.

 Safeguarding - staffing budgets have received £3.7 million of investment in total in two 
phases since 2016/17. Recruitment of experienced social workers continues to be 
challenging and agency staff have continued to cover staff vacancies or where 

Page 31



caseloads remained high. The staffing budgets are forecasting to be £647,000 over-
spent. Section 17 and discretionary payments for children in care are over-spending by 
£686,000 (91.5% of the budget) part of which is due to supporting families who have no 
recourse to public funds and increases in activity. 

 Quality - The cost of child protection conferences is forecast to over-spend by £332,000 
due to the use of agency staff to cover the number of child protection conferences 
required.

 Early Years - The forecast for early year’s services is £209,000 over-spend and relates 
to the implementation of new contracts for children’s centres and reflects one off costs 
borne this financial year.

3.3 Lead Commissioner Children’s Health
 Youth Support over-spend of £298,000 is due to the use of agency staff to cover staff 

vacancies in teams which support children in care and young people’s expenses. 
 Children with disabilities budgets are forecast to under-spend by £221,000 due to 

lower costs in the residential unit and staff vacancies in the field work teams.  

Page 32



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000
Non DSG 

£000
Total £000 % DSG   £000

Non DSG 

£000
Total £000

Change 

£000

Lead Commissioner Education & Skills Stewart King

Schools CF0201 -49,816 -52,865 -3,095 46 -3,049 6.1% -3,492 0 -3,492 443

SEN CF0202 14,336 15,429 917 176 1,093 7.6% 926 132 1,058 35

Improve Outcomes Vulnerable Children CF0203 7,521 7,095 -425 -1 -426 -5.7% -425 -11 -436 10

Improve Outcomes School & Acad CF0204 1,927 1,858 -28 -41 -69 -3.6% -22 -95 -117 48

Improve Outcomes Targ Int Schools CF0205 280 269 -11 0 -11 -3.9% -19 0 -19 8

Prov Gd Qual Sch Places Access CF0206 13,313 13,321 0 8 8 0.1% 0 4 4 4

Adult Education/Life Long Learning CF0208 0 0 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Lead Commissioner Education & Skills CF02-0 286 292 0 6 6 2.1% 0 0 0 6

Total Education & Skills -12,153 -14,601 -2,642 194 -2,448 20.1% -3,032 30 -3,002 554

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Families Wendy Williams

Safeguarding CF0301 13,422 14,563 0 1,141 1,141 8.5% 0 1,076 1,076 65

Children in Care CF0302 13,129 20,815 0 7,686 7,686 58.5% 0 7,717 7,717 -31 

Regulated Services CF0303 13,311 13,126 0 -185 -185 -1.4% 0 -170 -170 -15 

Early Years CF0304 33,776 33,985 43 166 209 0.6% 73 162 235 -26 

Quality CF0305 1,716 2,066 0 350 350 20.4% 0 331 331 19

Total Commissioner Families 75,354 84,555 43 9,158 9,201 12.2% 73 9,116 9,189 12

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Children's Health Helen Ford

Disabled Children & Young People CF0401 4,081 3,860 0 -221 -221 -5.4% 0 -230 -230 9

Young People Support CF0402 7,930 8,228 0 298 298 3.8% 0 194 194 104

Localities Early Intervention CF0403 925 914 -10 -1 -11 -1.2% 0 0 0 -11 

Localities Coordination & Support CF0404 2,014 2,012 0 -2 -2 -0.1% 0 -8 -8 6

Health Contracts CF0405 704 712 0 8 8 1.1% 0 0 0 8

Total Commissioner Children's Health 15,654 15,726 -10 82 72 0.5% 0 -44 -44 116

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Supporting People Kath Rees

Supporting People CF0601 9,960 9,960 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Total Commissioner Supporting People 9,960 9,960 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

CF07 ok ok ok

Commissioning Function 9,387 9,328 -10 -49 -59 -0.6% -10 -11 -21 -38 

Roundings 1 0 0 -1 -1 0 1 1 -2 

Total 98,203 104,968 -2,619 9,384 6,765 6.9% -2,969 9,092 6,123 642

Variance

2017/18 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1

Commissioning Director : Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in November 2017

Prev. Mth's Forecast Variance (Oct)

P
age 33



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000
Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000
% DSG £000

Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000

Change 

£000

External Agency Placements Gill Horrobin 9,655 17,098 0 7,443 7,443 77.1% 0 7,421 7,421 22

Independent Special Schools Charlotte Jones 8,791 9,541 750 0 750 8.5% 750 0 750 0

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 8,763 8,490 0 -273 -273 -3.1% 0 -292 -292 19

Adoption Tammy Wheatley 2,396 2,037 0 -359 -359 -15.0% 0 -320 -320 -39 

Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 2,152 2,599 0 447 447 20.8% 0 442 442 5

Safeguarding Staff Neelam Bhardwaja 10,388 11,035 0 647 647 6.2% 0 601 601 46

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Various 750 1,436 0 686 686 91.5% 0 633 633 53

High Needs Top-up Budgets Charlotte Jones 22,371 23,007 635 1 636 2.8% 253 0 253 383

Pensions Stewart King 3,887 3,932 0 45 45 1.2% 0 0 0 45

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Mark Bone/Francis Gobey 3,110 3,408 0 298 298 9.6% 0 194 194 104

Transport Stewart King 11,519 11,519 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Nursery Education Fees Stewart King 27,974 27,944 -30 0 -30 -0.1% 0 0 0 -30 

Roundings 0 1 -1 2 1 -2 4 2 -1 

Total 111,756 122,047 1,354 8,937 10,291 9.2% 1,001 8,683 9,684 607

Variance

2017/18 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2

Commissioning Director : Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in November 2017

Prev. Mth's Forecast Variance (Oct)

P
age 34



Annex 6

Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Month 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Apr 151 131 159 136 153 184 245 Apr 31 21 31 33 37 55 63 Apr 102 92 107 89 108 104 153 Apr 18 21 14 8 19 29

May 158 134 152 138 162 201 252 May 28 22 30 36 42 56 63 May 109 93 101 90 114 118 154 May 19 21 12 6 19 35

Jun 159 129 149 142 174 205 248 Jun 27 23 31 35 45 63 61 Jun 114 90 95 95 117 119 155 Jun 16 22 12 12 23 32

Jul 157 129 149 138 170 226 247 Jul 23 21 29 36 41 61 65 Jul 115 94 98 92 115 136 150 Jul 14 22 10 14 29 32

Aug 153 126 138 132 169 215 241 Aug 20 23 24 29 40 57 61 Aug 113 88 98 94 115 133 146 Aug 15 16 9 14 25 34

Sep 161 131 134 136 166 231 251 Sep 23 23 24 27 40 63 65 Sep 114 91 95 101 111 145 152 Sep 17 14 8 15 23 34

Oct 156 127 135 134 178 221 246 Oct 24 22 28 22 44 61 65 Oct 111 89 93 104 119 136 144 Oct 16 13 8 15 24 37

Nov 153 127 139 129 176 213 Nov 21 22 31 22 45 61 Nov 110 89 96 100 117 131 Nov 16 11 7 14 21

Dec 155 127 133 124 189 222 Dec 21 24 30 20 51 61 Dec 110 91 91 98 120 133 Dec 12 12 6 18 26

Jan 148 129 138 132 180 217 Jan 20 25 34 24 49 60 Jan 108 93 92 100 113 129 Jan 11 12 8 18 28

Feb 133 126 142 124 178 234 Feb 20 25 34 24 52 61 Feb 94 91 94 95 110 137 Feb 10 14 5 16 36

Mar 137 129 136 143 187 231 Mar 22 25 30 36 53 63 Mar 94 94 91 100 114 134 Mar 10 15 7 20 34

Average 152 129 142 134 174 217 247 23 23 30 29 45 60 63 108 91 96 97 114 130 151 15 16 9 14 26 33

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.

2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers

3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available

4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures

5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2017/18 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report

Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Agency Placements

Total Agency Placements Total Residential Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u

n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a

n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Total External Agency Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Agency Residential Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Agency Fostering Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

0

10

20

30

40

50

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

Supported Living Placements 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GCC Adoption  and Fostering Service 

Report to Children and Families 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

  

 11th January, 2018 

Head of service  

Tammy Wheatley 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7



Nationally... 

• The number of looked after children ceasing to be looked 

after due to adoption increased between 2011 and 2015 

from 3,100 to a peak of 5,360.  

• Last year the number of adoptions fell for the first time 

since 2011, by 12% and in 2017 the number of looked 

after children adopted have fallen again, by 8% to 4,350. 

  

 

P
age 38



Nationally... 

• Slightly more male looked after children were adopted than females; 

2,240 (51%) were male in 2017 and 2,110 (49%) were female. 

• Most looked after children who were adopted were aged between 1 

and 4 years (71%) 

• The average time between entry to care and the decision the child 

should be adopted has decreased from 11 months in 2013 to 7 

months 2017. 

• The average time between the decision the child should be placed 

for adoption and the child being matched to adopters has fallen from 

10 months in 2013 to 8 months in 2017. 

P
age 39



Nationally... 

• The paper, Adoption – A Vision for Change  reiterates the 

government’s pledge to avoid unnecessary delay in the adoption 

process and to increase the support available to adopted children 

and their families. 

• An increase in the Adoption support Fund (ASF) in 2016-17 to 

£21m and £28m in 2017-18, with further increases promised. 

• Ensuring that all local authorities become part of a Regional 

Adoption Agency with up to £14m available across 2016-18 to 

support their formation. 

P
age 40



Adoption West 

• Regionalising Adoption’ requires councils to establish Regional Adoption 

Agencies by the end of the Parliament in 2020  

− Improve the possibilities for children to find adoptive families, especially those 

who we may have struggled to find families for in the past 

− Improve support and choice for adopters 

− Speed up the process for all involved 

• Involve voluntary adoption agencies  and level the playing field  

Education and Adoption Act 2016 – reserved powers for secretary of state to 

require councils to transfer adoption service into regional arrangements. 

P
age 41



Adoption West Cont… 

• Six local authorities (Bath & North East Somerset, 

Bristol, Gloucestershire, North Somerset, South 

Gloucestershire, and Wiltshire) have been working 

together since 2014   

• Involved local Voluntary Adoption Agencies/ 

Adoption Support Agencies.  

• South Gloucestershire Council has been leading on 

behalf of the other councils  

• DFE have provided grant and challenge/oversight 

for all regional adoption agencies  

 

P
age 42



Locally 

• Fully embedded Early Permanence (EP) programme 

• Full use of the adoption Support Fund to provide excellent 

support to families, both longer term work and intervention 

which achieves more sustainable changes. 

• Creative and innovative family finding events e.g. Adoption 

Activity Days. 

 

P
age 43



Children Placed 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

2016/17

2017/18

P
age 44



Ages of children placed 

Ages of childrens placed 
2017 to date  

0-12 mths

12-23 mths

2-5 yrs

5-10 yrs

P
age 45



Children waiting 

• At end of December 2017 there were 24 children for whom we 

were actively family finding 

• Of those waiting 18 children are part of sibling groups and 6 

are single children.   

• We are searching nationally for all children waiting including 

specific advertising online and in publications. 

P
age 46



Reduction in adoption 

Adoption is not the only route to permanence planning for children 

unable to stay with birth parents 

 

Courts must give precedence to permanence in kinship 

arrangements wherever realistically possible 

 

 Subsequent increase in children placed under Special 

Guardianship Orders (22 made this year so far) 

 

Some children have their plans changed to long term fostering with 

their current carers 

 

P
age 47



Approval of Adopters 

Changes in the assessment process were introduced as part of 

the adoption reform programme. 

 

These changes have been fully implemented in GCC in both 

fostering and adoption and have required some significant 

organisational and practice changes. 

 

Timescales for assessment are being monitored nationally and 

are to be reported in the national adoption scorecards. 

P
age 48



Assessment of adopters 

Assessment timeliness 
2017 to date 

< 3 mths

3-6 mths

6-9 mths

9-12 mths

P
age 49



Adopters 2017 – to date 

• We have received 131 online enquiries  

• Four adopters have returned for a second time  

• We estimate a total of 26 approvals by the end 

of this year (March 2018).  

• There are 15 adopters currently waiting for the 

right match, 4 of which are approved as EP 

carers. 

P
age 50



Demand / Supply 

•The adoption team is constantly trying to match the supply of 

approved adopters with the need for children’s placements. 

 

•Recruitment of adopters is focusing on seeking parents for children 

who are invariably older children (over 4), who have complex 

additional needs and sibling groups. 

 

•The Government drive has been to increase the national pool of 

adopters.  The adoption team is linking with other authorities where 

recruitment has not been so successful. 

 

P
age 51



Inter-Agency Placements 

The fees derived from providing approved adoptive placements to 

other local authorities are helping to fund the development of 

improved processes within the in-house service. 

 

So far this year we have placed 5 children with other agency 

adopters, 2 x 2 siblings groups and one individual child.  

 

We have 10 children placed with our adopters from other agency's, 2 

sibling groups of 2 and 6 individual children.  

P
age 52



Adoption Support 

0

50

100

150

200

250

2016/17

2017/18

P
age 53



Adoption Support 

The adoption service provides a great deal of expert support  to all 

adoptive families, living in Gloucestershire or placed out of county by 

Gloucestershire for a three year period. This includes: 

•Range of support groups, county wide, provided by adoption team. 

•Access to CYPS clinical psychologists and primary health care 

worker  

•Education mentor  

•Allocated worker from adoption team    

•Crisis support 

•Through the Adoption Support Fund, a range of therapeutic 

interventions 

 

P
age 54



Disruptions 

• During this year there has been one disruption pre order of a 

young baby who went on to be placed with a EP carer who went on to 

adopt her.  

• There has been a decrease in the number of disruptions pre order 

since 2016/17 when we saw two disruptions. 

• It is hoped that the increase and pro active adoption support 

available is having the desired impact that is needed to prevent 

disruptions occurring.  

 

P
age 55



What do we do to understand and 

prevent disruptions? 

• Independently chaired disruption meetings are held in each 

case to explore lessons to be learned.  These have informed 

practice and themes have been collated. 

• National research published this year indicates that highest 

risk of disruption is for children aged 4 and over.  

• Training and support for adopters 

• Spotting signs early and offering help 

 

P
age 56



Current challenges 

• To build on family finding initiatives to identify placements for 

children waiting in a timely fashion 

• Increase our pool of adopters willing to adopt sibling groups 

• Continue to develop our adoption support services efficiently 

• Utilise the ASF within the stricter criteria 

• Continue with the development of Adoption West  

• Support the workforce and organisation in the changes due to the 

RAA.  

P
age 57



Overall 

• Steady number of children adopted in Gloucestershire 

• Numbers likely to Plateau in future given judicial emphasis on 

working as far as possible to find family members who may be 

suitable permanent carers 

• We have made good progress in approving adopters in a timely 

way, being adopter led and focussed 

• We are very successful at placing children who traditionally have 

been hard to place 

• We are becoming increasingly creative about how we support 

adoptive parents 

• We have a highly motivated and consistent adoption service 

 

 

 

P
age 58



Fostering Service 

P
age 59



The Fostering Resource – 4 Separate 

Teams 
•Friends and Family Assessment and Support Team – assesses and 

supports kinship carers and Special Guardianship arrangements. 

•Family Link Team – recruits, assesses and supports carers who provide 

short breaks for children with disabilities 

•Fostering Placement Team – Identifies placements for children and 

supports our specialist fostering services.  

•Fostering Recruitment and Placement Finding Team – recruits, 

assesses, and prepares foster carers.  Team includes a marketing officer who 

co-ordinates publicity campaigns and events. 

•Fostering Support Team – supervises and supports carers and monitors 

placements 

 

P
age 60



Placement Types  

Placements as of 
December 2017 

In house

Agency

Friends
and family

EP

Residential

other

P
age 61



GCC Foster Carers as of Dec 2017 

•   280 fostering households (excluding kinship) 

•    55  of these are  single carers 

•    24 of our carers are recorded as Black or ethnic minority carers.  

• 41% of children in foster care are cared for by foster carers 

registered with the GCC in-house service. 

• The service provides training and support to carers across the 

county.  

•  Support groups for foster carers are facilitated in a range of 

locations and at different times with a number of guest speakers. 

 
 

P
age 62



Recruitment of Foster Carers 

We have approved 20 households this year so far 

offering placements for up to 40 children.  

We are predicting a total of 33 approved households by 

the end of the year. 

Over the last three years we have received on average 

405 enquiries per year.  

This year our highest number of enquiries have come 

from Gloucester/Forest of Dean/Cheltenham and 

Stroud 

The highest number of interest came via the internet/ 

word of mouth and information stands.  

P
age 63



GCC as an employer of choice for 

foster carers 

•There are many independent providers of fostering services  

 

•Three carers transferred from the independent sector to GCC 

fostering so far this year 

 

•No mainstream GCC foster carers transferred out.  
  
In a recent  questionnaire sent to foster carers it is reported that 

most people chose to foster with GCC for the following reasons;   

• Level of support  - 20% 

• Training provided  - 16% 

• Locality – 40% 

P
age 64



Challenges & Initiatives in Fostering 

We continue to struggle to find enough placements for 

teenagers, parent and baby placements, children with very 

complex needs and those with high risk behaviours.  We 

continue to focus on this, recruiting carers with these skills or 

experience but also providing training and support to carers 

already approved. 

 

We have introduced a full time independent reviewing to the 

fostering service enabling us to scrutinise and quality assure all 

our carers ensuring they are providing excellent standard of 

care to all our children  

 

P
age 65



Challenges & Initiatives in Fostering 

 We are reviewing all the training and support we offer to 

carers ensuring it meets the needs of the service and that 

our foster carers are able to meet the needs of the 

children in care.  

 

Changes to our payment structure, making the process 

fair, less and bureaucratic and more efficient. We have 

consulted with foster carers and will be finalising this in 

April 2018. 

P
age 66



Support for Permanence 

• Initiatives have included extensive training and support of foster 

carers to improve processes of transition to adoption. 

 

• Where permanent plan for child is long term fostering improved 

practice is being implemented to delegate authority to foster carers 

and to encourage ‘staying put’ arrangements for leaving care. 

 

•We continue the drive for children to be matched long term with their 

foster carers. 35 children will be matched this year by April 2018. 

 

•The Fostering Friends and Family Team have developed training and 

support for the growing number of Special Guardianship 

arrangements. 

 

P
age 67



Overall 

•The fostering service offers placements to 265 (Dec17 fig) , this 

equates to 4% of children in care. We must aim to increase this by 

increasing our recruitment of relevant foster carers,  retain foster 

carers currently approved, offer high quality training and support to 

enable carers to feel valued, appreciated and safe.   

 

•We continue to focus on meeting the needs of hard to place children, 

vulnerable teenagers and those with the most extreme and 

challenging behaviour. We are working with our health colleagues to 

improve this area of our work and the support available.  

 

•Family and Friends fostering is a growing area, we are working on 

improving the quality of this work and the support available to the 

carers. 

 

• We have a highly motivated fostering service. 

 

P
age 68



1

Adoption Service
Annual Report

April 2016 – March 2017

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 69



2

Introduction

It is a pleasure to introduce the 2016/17 Adoption Service Annual Report for Gloucestershire 
County Council. As Director of Children’s services I have responsibility to ensure that all 
children requiring adoption receive good quality services which will support them. Giving 
children the best start in life and achieving permanence in a stable and nurturing 
environment. One of the key priorities is to maximise the placement availability to children 
who are unable to remain in the care of the birth families by recruiting a range of 
prospective adopters from all walks of life.

Achieving positive outcome and effective support for all those affected by adoption is a 
crucial part of the work of the service and is integral in the organisations vision for children.

We are highly committed in Gloucestershire to achieving the best outcomes for our children 
and young people and for some this will be by providing new forever families for them and 
supporting that into the future. We are proud of the achievements of this area of work 
continue to work hard to find new ways of working creatively and being innovative in our 
approach to do even better in the future.

The Adoption service continues to experience major procedural and legislative reform, 
which is a clear challenge but we are committed to finding new ways to address these 
changes ensuring they are effective, purposeful and beneficial to the children whom need 
this service.

We look forward to continuing to work with the challenges ahead in the forthcoming year 
and working with partners in the South West in the developments of the regional agency 
Adoption West.

We would like to thank all the members of the adoption panel for their commitment during 
the past year and to all the staff in the council and other organisations who have all worked 
together to improve outcomes for children and make a positive difference to them and their 
families.

Page 70



3

The Children

At the end of the year March 2017 Gloucestershire county Council have placed 45 children 
for adoption, these children are in the process of securing an Adoption Order. 29 children 
have been adopted and the family finding team are actively searching for adoptive families 
for 17 children. We are looking both locally and nationally for all these children and use the 
national data bases increase the possibility of identifying suitable matches.

Graph 1: The graph below shows the ages of children placed for adoption in 2016/17

< 2 years, 19

2-4 years, 10

4-6 years, 13 

> 6 yrs, 3

Ages of children placed for adoption  2016/17

Adoption panel considered 47 matches with prospective adopters during 2016/17 
compared to 31 in the previous year. Some of these went on to secure the final adoption 
order whilst others are still waiting this order.  

Over the last year the number of Children in Care in Gloucestershire has ranged from 565 to 
630 at its highest. We saw a peak of 630 Looked after Children in July 2016.

At 31st March 2017 there were 612 Children in Care of which 35 had a Placement Order 
granted.

Page 71



4

Adopters

Within the year April 2016 to March 2017 Gloucestershire County Council Adoption panel 
has recommended approval for 28 adoptive families recruited and assessed by the adoption 
team. This is a decrease from 40 families in the previous year.

This decrease in numbers corresponds to a decrease in number of children who had 
Placement Orders granted. Our recruitment and marketing strategy needed to reflect this 
and a reduction in recruitment took place especially for the younger aged children of four 
years and below. The number of older children and sibling groups needing adoptive families 
was much higher and so our recruitment and assessment efforts were more focused on 
prospective adopters who were looking to adopt children within this range. Our Early 
Permanency success led to the need to increase our efforts in this area and develop our 
processes, training and assessment of such adopters who were interested in adopting 
through this route.

Our recruitment strategy for 2016/17 aimed to recruit sufficient adoptive families to meet 
the needs of the children to be placed for adoption locally, with additional capacity to meet 
the needs of the national pool of children needing permanence through adoption.

Our key aim was to strengthen the adoption brand into the wider community and this was 
achieved through various activities including:

 Radio campaigns
 Open days
 Poster displays
 Social media
 Paid for local publications

Graph 2: The graph below illustrates the comparative number of enquiries by year:

169

300

225

187 185

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Number of adoption enquiries by year

N
o.

 o
f e

nq
ui

rie
s

Page 72



5

Whilst the majority of our enquiries come from the Gloucestershire area, we have seen an 
increase in the number of enquiries from other local authority areas. We have seen this as 
an opportunity for our children who need to be placed out of the Gloucestershire area but 
close enough so that we can actively support the placement and have the benefit of 
knowing the adopters well.  Recruitment outside the area will continue but we have 
established a caveat that they must live no more than an hour’s journey from 
Gloucestershire to ensure this is effective use of our resource.

It was encouraging to see 4 sets of adoptive families return to adopt for a second or 
subsequent time with Gloucestershire and we were able to offer them a fast track process 
as per the adoption Guidance.

The current adoption process is a two stage process with the expectation that the first stage 
will be adopter led and social work supported and completed within two months of the 
acceptance of the Registration of Interest form. The second part, social work led and 
adopter supported should be completed within 4 months. We have always aimed to 
complete assessments within this time however we have always been led by the adopters 
and where we feel an area of vulnerability has been identified we have extended the 
assessment to ensure the adopters are robust and fully prepared for the adoption task. Our 
ethos is that we must do all we can to ensure prospective adopters are able to meet the 
needs of some of our most vulnerable children; should this take longer it is less likely to end 
in a disruptive placement or a less than good enough environment for the children to thrive. 
Equally adopters themselves have indicated that they need more time to reflect or a 
personal situation has occurred which has led to them needing more time. During stage two 
of the process we have a mid-point review and on the whole adopters report feeling very 
happy with the speed and progress made in the assessment, and if there have been issues in 
relation to this we have been able to respond effectively.

Page 73



6

Graph 3: The graph below illustrates the timeliness of adopter approval in 2015/16.

0-6 months, 4

6-9 months, 12

9-12 months, 10

 12 months +,29

Timeliness of approval in 2016/17

Page 74



7

Family Finding for Children

Our recruitment strategy involves working collaboratively with other agencies to ensure we 
maximise the supply of adopters. We significantly increased the numbers of adopters 
recruited, therefore providing more choice and improved matching opportunities. In house 
Gloucestershire County Council adoption service recruitment practices are informed by the 
assessed needs of the children who need adoptive families. The adoption service links 
closely with the relevant children’s teams to inform family finding activities. This is in 
relation to the needs of individual children as well as to inform about the likely demand for 
adopters. We have used specific recruitment strategies for some children. We have 
regularly advertised in national adoption publications and attended exchange events across 
the country to ensure we reach the widest range of adopters for children needing 
placements. We refer to the Adoption Register England, Adoption Link and SWAC (South 
West Adoption Consortium).

We have improved processes for projecting the demand for GCC placements for children 
coming through the care proceedings route. We work closely with other local authorities 
and voluntary agencies to identify matches which can better meet a child’s needs. We 
engaged with various collaborative family finding events, including facilitating and holding 
our own twice during the year and opening this up to other Local Authority adoption 
agencies.

Risk assessment meetings are carried out during the linking processes. A risk triangle model 
is used to inform matching considerations. Adopters have access to full information about 
children’s needs and the support services available. Adopters meet with the agency medical 
adviser prior to the match. We use our consultation arrangements with CYPS 2Gether 
(CAMHS) to inform placement considerations. Prospective adopters are helped to 
understand the parenting strategies that are needed for individual children. We provide 
support plans / support packages that are specific to the individual needs of the child. This 
includes access to an adoptive parenting programme. All adoptive families have a named 
post adoption support worker allocated. We identify therapeutic services which can support 
placements and have made active use of the Adoption Support Fund. Child Appreciation 
Days are held for all children; these help raise adopters’ understanding of the complexities.

Page 75



8

Early Permanence (Foster to Adopt)

We have fully embedded Early Permanence into our service and offer to adopters and 
children. We have incorporated information about Early Permanence into all our 
information and publicity for prospective adopters and additional training in stage one of 
the process to allow potential adopters to make informed decision to ‘opt out’ of Early 
Permanence as a path to there adoption journey. Early Permanence is not suitable for all 
adopters and any interest needs to be robustly explored both during the assessment 
process and thereafter. We have developed close links with our in house fostering service 
and have trained all our adoption staff to be able to take on the role of fostering support 
social worker during the fostering element of the process. Our adoption panel has expanded 
to enable all applicants who wish to adopt through this route to attend one panel and get 
approval for dual approval.

Since the implementation of this programme we have been able to place a number of 
children in Early Permanence placements. This year we have seen 20 children benefit from 
an early Permanence placement (including 2 sibling groups). The backgrounds to all these 
children have been very different and we have assessed each one on the appropriateness of 
this type of placement and the risk involved to the child and prospective adopter.

Graph 4: The graph below illustrates the number and circumstances of early Permanence 
placements in 2016/17.

Adopted by carers , 
7

Returned to birth 
family , 4

Still in proceedings,, 
14

Early Permanence Placements 2016/17 

Page 76



9

Adoption Support

In 2014/15 the Government invested £19.3 million towards the creation of the National 
Adoption Support Fund (ASF). The fund came into operation in May 2015 and is intended to 
be used to pay for therapeutic interventions to help support adoptive families. Recent 
announcements have confirmed that the ASF will continue to operate with increased 
funding every year until 2020, following which it is hoped plans will be in place to ensure its 
future sustainability.

Gloucestershire County Council were one of the 10 local Authorities who were approached 
to pilot the ASF during 2014/15 and we have benefitted hugely by having this opportunity 
and have been ahead in relation to the roll out of the fund.

Since the full implementation the remit has developed and changed over time and now 
includes Special Guardians of children who were previously in the care of the Local 
Authority and Inter-country adoption.

To date the adoption service has made 216 successful applications to the fund, with more 
applications in the pipeline, compared to 137 last year. 

In addition to this we have continued to review and improve our local offer of adoption 
support and have a wide range of support services available. All our adopters have a named 
adoption support worker post Adoption Order and are able to access all our universal 
services which include:

 Support groups
 dads group
 under five groups
 teenage group
 birth children group
 annual seminar
 annual fun day

We have invested in our staff team and have a number of staff trained at level one 
Theraplay, level one NVR, Circle of Security and Adult attachment.

Our last annual fun day was attended by in excess of 150 people and was very well received 
and feedback was very positive. It is a great opportunity for families and children to come 
together and enjoy a picnic, get their faces painted and for parents to have some time out 
with a free massage.

Page 77



10

We have worked on developing a support group for waiting adopters which is a welcome 
opportunity to find out about current activity and discuss ways of increasing the opportunity 
of finding a child. We were able to secure the funding to complete DVD’s of all our waiting 
adopters to share locally and nationally with social workers looking for families for their 
children.

Our post adoption contact service is currently dealing with 237 different contact 
arrangements each year which the team support, both in terms of supervision direct contact 
and ensuring secure and sensitive indirect contact. There has been an increase in post 
adoption support arrangements and the need to support birth families has increased in line 
with this.

We have a contract with After Adoption – Birth Ties to offer independent support to our 
birth families and this service is effective and is monitored quarterly by the adoption team 
manager.

We continue to offer support to adopted adults and our service offers schedule two 
appointments and sharing of birth summaries to all adults. There is peaks and falls in the 
number of adopted adults enquiring for access to their records, often television 
programmes like ‘my long lost family’ will prompt an influx.

Page 78



11

Disruption

During 2016/17 we have experienced two significant adoption disruptions prior to Adoption 
Order. One involved a one year old boy who was considered a positive link for a couple who 
had a birth son. A week after he moved in to his new home the adopters made the difficult 
decision that he was not right for them and in turn they were not right for him. A very 
difficult time for everyone but with support we were able to help the adopters manage this 
emotional event. We were able to act without delay for the young boy and identified an 
early Permanence placement for him so he would only potentially have to experience one 
move rather than more if he returned to general foster care and then went on to be 
adopted. He has since gone on to be officially matched with his carers at the adoption panel 
and are awaiting the Adoption order to be granted. 
The other was a baby who was relinquished and was placed with  Early Permanence carers. 
After 6 weeks it was decided that this was not the right placement for the baby and she was 
moved to an alternative Early Permanence carer and the plan is for her to be matched later 
in the year. 
In both cases disruption meeting were independently convened and learning points have 
been identified and acted upon.   

Page 79



12

Central list of membership for Adoption Panel

Chair – Pete Wrighton
Pete has extensive experience in social work practice and management. He was a trainer 
consultant for the British Association for Adoption and Fostering (BAAF) for many years, and 
currently works on a freelance basis. Pete has a particular interest in the provision of 
support for adoptive families, and also in the role of adoptive fathers, a subject he has 
written about.

Medical Adviser – Imelda Bennett
Dr Bennett is a consultant Paediatrician employed by Gloucestershire Health Services, with a 
lead in Adoption and Fostering. Dr Bennett is covering the role of Medical Adviser whilst the 
post is being recruited to following the previous post holder leaving in February 2016

Children’s Services – Tess Docherty
Tess gained her social work qualification in 1975 and has since worked in several Local 
Authorities. She worked for a number of years in Gloucestershire’s Fostering and Adoption 
Team before taking up a position as Independent Reviewing Officer in 2002. Tess has retired 
from this position and works independently of the local Authority. She has been an 
Adoption Panel Member since 2009.

Children’s Services – Julie Miles
Julie completed her Diploma in Social Work in 1997. She has worked in the childcare field 
since qualifying and feels this is an area in which her skills and experience are most suited. 
Julie was initially a social worker and is now the Service leader for Front Door Services in 
Children’s Services. Julie is also a qualified practice teacher and has undertaken 
qualifications in this area.

Independent – Ange Tanner
Ange has a personal interest in adoption as a birth mother who was reunited with her 
daughter over 20 years ago. She also has two adopted nephews. She has served on various 
Adoption Panels since 1990. Ange worked as a Senior Adoption Practitioner for a Voluntary 
Adoption Agency until her retirement and is a registered social worker. She continues to 
work in a voluntary capacity for an Adoption Support Agency supporting adults affected by 
adoption. Ange is married and has one daughter and 3 grandsons.

Independent – Chris Westbrook
Chris has an interest in adoption as an adopted person and as an experienced counsellor. He 
was the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire Counselling Service and also supervised a group 
of drug workers in Bristol.  He was previously a teacher working with young people with 
learning and behavioural difficulties. He is married with three grown up children. Chris 
traced his birth family and is in regular contact with them.

Page 80



13

Independent & Vice Chair – Brenda Yearwood
Brenda currently works as a Commissioning Manager for Gloucestershire County Council.  
On a personal level Brenda has experience of adoption within her family. Two of her three 
nephews are adopted and one of the things she most welcomes is the introduction of 
adoption support packages. Joining the Panel has given Brenda yet another view of 
adoption particularly the phenomenal amount of work that goes into the whole process. 
Brenda is currently Vice Chair.

Independent – Joan Nash
Joan was a County Councillor for twelve years. She has always taken an interest in children 
and young people, and issues which affect their lives.  She was Cabinet Member for schools 
2005 – 2009. Previously she has worked as a teacher of swimming and then with 
participants of the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award.  She is married to Colin, a farmer and they 
have two grown up sons, who they adopted as babies. Joan and Colin enjoy their family and 
now have four lovely grandchildren.

County Councillor – Tracy Millard
Tracy is an elected County Councillor. She sits on the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, along with several other committees. She always strives to ensure our 
looked after children receive the best services, as she would expect for her own children.  
She was Chairperson of a playgroup for six years, where she strived to ensure all children in 
her care had a good grounding for school. Tracy is married to Steve, and they have two 
teenage children.

Independent – Foster Carer/Adopter – Bernie Cox
Bernie is a Foster Carer Panel Member and has recently adopted a young boy who has been 
with them for almost 3 years as a long term foster placement. Prior to becoming a full time 
foster carer Bernie worked in the Youth Service for 36 years working in Liverpool, Wigan and 
for the last 13 years in Gloucestershire with young people from a variety of backgrounds, 
abilities and experiences aged primarily between 11-18 years.

Independent – Foster Carer – Gillian Lloyd
Gill is a Foster Carer Panel Member and has previously worked for Gloucestershire County 
Council as a social worker since 1991, in the Child Care Team and Children with Disabilities 
Team. She has worked in the Fostering resource for the past 10 years both in Fostering 
Recruitment and Fostering Support Teams. She is currently a therapeutic foster carer with 
Action for Children/Herefordshire Council and has past experience of caring long term for a 
young adult with autism/learning disabilities, and challenging behaviour.

Independent – Foster Carer – Kelvin Troake
Kelvin Troake has been a foster carer for a Local Authority since 2001, providing 
intermediate placements for teenage males. He worked for 10 years at the Charity 
Commission, leaving in 2008 to concentrate on his fostering career. He enjoys the 
challenges of making a positive contribution in young people’s lives. Kelvin currently sits on 
a number of foster panels, understanding the demands of being a foster carer and the 
qualities you need to provide a high level of care.

Page 81



14

Agency Adviser – Liz Pickering
Liz qualified in 1992 with a professional qualification and a Masters degree in Social Work. 
Liz worked for Gloucestershire Children and Families Service for six years before moving to 
the Adoption Service in 1998, she attained a Post Qualifying Child Care Award from Bristol 
University in 2003.

Liz became the joint Deputy Team Manager of the Adoption Team in 2004 with a joint lead 
on adoption support and Interim Adoption Team Manager in 2007. Liz has been the Agency 
Adviser to the Adoption Panel since 2007 and to the Fostering Panel since 2012. Liz has a 
Diploma in Management (2015).

Panel Administrators –
Sumaiya Tilly, Julie Hall, Helen Curtis and Rachel Smith

One of the Panel administrators will attend the meeting and take notes on a laptop and 
produce the minutes.

Page 82



15

Adoption Team

The Adoption Team has a very stable workforce who is working together under one 
management structure on all aspects of adoption work. The team comprises of:

1 Team Manager

2 Deputy Team Managers

9 Social work staff

5 Adoption Support Workers

1 Marketing Officer

1 Education Mentor

2 Administrators

The team work together with different areas of expertise across which we utilise to ensure 
an excellent service is provided. We provide a duty service Monday to Friday 9 -5 and 
Tuesdays til 7pm to cater for those who need out of hours contact.

Page 83



16

Key Issues and aims for the year ahead

Abuse, domestic violence and parental substance and alcohol misuse are significant issues in 
the background of many children requiring adoption. These trends have implications not 
only for family finding in that the needs of children are likely to be more complex and may 
mean they might be more difficult to place because of the higher level of special needs, 
health issues and aspects such as foetal alcohol syndrome, but they will also be of relevance 
for the immediate and future support that families caring for such children will require.

The 2017/18 key issues for the Adoption Service will be:

 To build on our successful marketing approach to continue to recruit potential 
adopters within Gloucestershire or on our borders. This activity will remain fluid 
and will respond to the local demand and volatile adoption numbers.

 Increase the number of adopters willing to adopt sibling groups, older and more 
complex children.

 To meet the increased demand for post adoption support, utilising the ASF to 
access therapeutic support for children and families.

 Continue to develop our relationships with other organisations, working together to 
improve the services we provide especially in relation to family finding and support.

 To continue to find creative ways of family finding for children who need adoptive 
families, reducing the delay for children.

 Managing and adjusting positively to the ongoing Adoption Reform Agenda and its 
implications and new proposals contained within the DfE document “Vision for 
Change” Working together on regionalisation by 2020.

 Continued development of our performance and monitoring systems in order to 
effectively analyse outcomes and areas for future development.

 The continued development of Adoption West and working together to create the 
regionalised adoption agency.

Page 84



17

Conclusion

2016/17 has been a successful year with 29 children adopted and 45 placed for adoption. 
The success of Early Permanence has made a huge difference to children’s experiences and 
reduced the potential trauma of moving subsequent times before gaining permanence. We 
have experienced low level disruption and continue to develop and improve our local offer 
of adoption support services.

We continue to thrive on innovative ways to find families for our children and having 
experienced a number of successful placements for children we feel we have the basis to go 
on and secure permanence for many other children in the forthcoming year.

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Annual Report

Gloucestershire Fostering Panel

31 March 2016 – 31 March 2017

                                    Anne Binney

                            Independent Chair

Page 87



2

1.  Introduction

2.  Panel Membership

3.  Activity

4. Development

5. Assessments of prospective foster carers

a) General applications
b) Family and Friends applications
c) Family Link applications

6. Annual Reviews

7.  Long Term Matches

8. Exemptions/Variations

9.  Investigations/Standard of Care Reports

10. Conclusion

Page 88



3

1.  Introduction

This has been an extremely busy year for the fostering service and for the 
Fostering Panel.  Nationally and locally, numbers of looked after children have 
increased, putting pressure on placement and staff resources.  The panel has 
had to have longer agenda and additional panels to enable it to meet the 
demand.  It is to the credit of the panel administrative team and panel adviser 
that efficiency has been maintained to a high standard.  It is also to the credit 
of the fostering service that quality standards have been maintained in the 
vast majority of situations. Most foster carers speak highly of the support they 
receive from the service and from the Fostering Social Worker in particular.  
Gloucestershire remains extremely fortunate to have a range of experienced, 
highly skilled foster carers who place the needs of the children in their care 
above all.  

This Annual Report will outline panel activity and the range of issues on which 
panel were asked to make a recommendation.  The report will outline any 
themes or issues that have arisen, with suggestions to the agency for 
potential improvements.   

2.  Panel Membership

There are fourteen panel members on the Central List, including the Chair 
and two Vice-Chairs.  This provides a range of experience and knowledge for 
the panel with a variety of perspectives.  There are two members who are 
current foster carers and another who was a foster carer and who is now an 
adoptive parent.  One of the foster carers is Vice Chair of the panel.  All of 
these panel members also sit, as required, on the Adoption Panel when 
fostering to adopt applications are presented.  The panel is also fortunate to 
have the benefit of two people who have themselves experienced the care 
system and a number of social work colleagues, including the second Vice 
Chair who has current experience of fostering assessments but is also a 
qualified child psychotherapist who supports children with their emotional well-
being.  There are also two other panel members with a background in health 
and one with a background in education.  While there is no longer a 
requirement to have a local councillor on the panel, Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) remains committed to providing this. 

Three of the Central List members were appointed this year and they have 
been welcomed by colleagues on the panel as providing additional knowledge 
and experience.  Panel members mostly have the opportunity to attend panel 
on a monthly basis, ensuring their knowledge and skills are maintained.  

Applicants and foster carers attending panel are provided with a folder 
including photos and individual details of panel members present.  

Page 89



4

3.  Activity      The Fostering Panel met on 32 occasions this year.  

Details of cases presented are outlined below:

Category Number Comment

General application to foster 34
Includes 2 cases deferred for further 
information

Family and Friends applications 27
Includes 3 cases deferred for further 
information

Family Link Plus applications
  
  5

Family and Friends extension 
requests

26

Annual Reviews 59

Exemptions   7

Investigations/Standard of Care 
Reports/Issues of Concern

13 Panel recommended de-registration in 3 
cases

Long Term Match 20

Change of approval 16

Updates/notifications   9

Resignations 61
21 of these followed the child reaching 
18 or the awarding of special 
guardianship, child arrangement order 
or adoption.
Resignations which had not been 
formally presented to panel in the 
previous year were also included, 
raising the number above the norm.

*Please note that some cases 
presented cover more than 
one category, e.g. an annual 
review may incorporate a 
change of approval 
recommendation or 
accompany a Standard of 
Care Report or Long Term 
Match

Page 90



5

4.  Development
Panel Members have appreciated and benefitted from a range of research 
documents and information relating to fostering regularly provided by the 
Panel Adviser.  While Annual Appraisals for panel members identify any 
individual development needs, there are a range of opportunities provided 
regularly for panel members.  Panel Members can attend the Master Classes 
provided for staff in GCC and the Annual Away Day for panel members 
provides a range of development opportunities.  At the last Away Day in April 
2016, panel members received a presentation on Attachment Style interviews 
used in some adoption and fostering assessments, along with an opportunity 
to meet with the team managers in the service and hear of team 
developments.  Panel meetings have also provided opportunities to have 
presentations on foetal alcohol syndrome, the needs of Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking young people, the Fostering Changes training, Staying Put 
requirements, Family Link developments and discussion on Serious Case 
Reviews relevant to fostering.  A Meet the Panel Event, held jointly with the 
Adoption Panel in November 2016, allowed direct communication with social 
workers across the services and sharing of issues and planned 
developments. Feedback was extremely positive from all parties. The Chair 
and Panel Adviser were also invited to the Recruitment Team Away Day to 
have a two way dialogue about assessments and panel activity.  The Panel 
Adviser also regularly meets with the teams to raise issues noted by panel. 

5.  Assessments

a) General applications

Panel considered 34 general applications.  Assessments now use the BAAF 
Form F, providing consistency with most other fostering agencies which is 
helpful when people transfer in from other agencies.  

All bar one of the assessments considered by panel were completed within 
timescales and were of a good standard with the required checks completed.  
There has been improvement noted with most referees and family members 
now signing and dating the record of interviews held. References are now 
mostly also considered by the assessor in terms of their value to the 
assessment.  The majority of assessments are very thorough with good 
analysis and evidenced recommendations.  It is helpful to list the strengths 
and vulnerabilities relating to the application in the conclusion and how any 
vulnerabilities will be supported by the agency.  

Panel has taken the view that it requires all the checks to be included in order 
to have sufficient information on which to base a recommendation and will 
defer any cases where any are outstanding.  

Page 91



6

b) Family and Friends applications

These can sometimes present more challenges both to the assessor and to 
the panel.  There would appear to be difficulties in obtaining DBS records and 
medical reports within the 16 week timescale so many if not most applications 
are extended for a further 8 weeks.  It is usual that the child is already in 
placement in these circumstances with temporary approval granted by the 
Agency Decision Maker after a Regulation 24 Assessment.  Delay while 
waiting for checks can mean that there is little access to training or regular 
supervision while the assessment is underway and this can result in 
difficulties early in the placement.  

There are sometimes challenges for all in considering what is “good enough”. 
Account is taken of research that shows that looked after children and young 
people often have better outcomes placed within their extended families.  
Clearly though, consideration has to be given to whether the proposed 
placement can meet their identified needs both now and in the future.  
Assessments have sometimes presented information on current needs but 
with limited analysis of potential future challenges.  Information on the health 
of applicants and any impact of this is crucial.  Recently published guidance 
by the Family Rights Group may assist when considering Reg. 24 
assessments and full fostering assessments.  

c)  Family Link Plus

There have been 5 assessments for Family Link Plus presented to panel and 
these were of a good standard generally.  All checks are required to be in 
place before presentation at panel.  

The Fostering Panel has continued to make use of the very helpful range of 
questions for applicants devised by Care Leavers.  At least one of these 
questions is normally asked of the applicants with an explanation as to the 
source of the question.  

6.  Annual Reviews

As required, all first annual reviews are presented to panel with foster carers 
invited to attend.  It is rare for reviews to be late in completion but there are 
sometimes delays in presenting them to panel.  A few were very overdue and 
panel members queried the system for monitoring timescales. Some of the 
overdue ones have arisen because the Fostering Social Worker is off work 
and a system for ensuring all reviews are met in statutory timescales is 
required. The majority of reviews are completed by the carers’ own Fostering 
Social Worker, with team manager oversight on completion.  Panel therefore 
has an important role in providing independent scrutiny.  

Page 92



7

An Independent Reviewing Officer was appointed part-time to oversee the 
completion of annual reviews.  The post-holder has worked successfully to 
raise standards and consistency in reviews and was also able to chair some 
reviews, especially those following allegations.  The Fostering Panel is 
pleased to note that this post has now been increased to full time and 
recruitment is underway.   

GCC requires DBS checks to be undertaken every two years along with 
updated medical reports.  The vast majority of these are carried out as per 
policy but there are occasions when updated medical information does not 
appear to have been considered in the review and DBS checks for family 
members who reach 18 are sometimes not completed in a timely manner.  
Within the year, GCC changed the number of required unannounced visits 
from two per annum to one.  This has resulted in far greater compliance with 
this policy.  Frequency of Fostering Social Work visits is listed in the review 
and these are normally very regular.  Consultation with foster carers, included 
in the review, indicates that the majority are extremely grateful for their social 
worker’s regular support and supervision.  They are highly valued.  

Consultation with children and young people in placement, and children of 
foster carers is routinely sought and can offer helpful insights into care 
received.  The Fostering Panel has been concerned that foster carers are 
sometimes asked to help the foster child to complete the feedback form. This 
is unacceptable as it is an important opportunity for a child or young person to 
state their views independently of the foster carer.  This was an issue raised 
with team managers and the support team by the Panel Adviser and as a 
result, panel understands that the feedback form is being revised with details 
of who helps to complete the form added. 

There has been recent improvement in the number of Personal Development 
Plans now being included in the review and presented to panel.  It is unclear 
whether this is a jointly completed document or whether foster carers are 
being asked to complete themselves with a comment added by their social 
worker at the end.  The panel would recommend that it is completed jointly, 
with the Fostering Social Worker able to advise on future training needs, 
rather than the carers selecting what they would like to complete.  

There has also been some recent improvement in the number of Training 
Support and Development Standards (TSD) completed within the first twelve 
months of fostering (18 months for Family and Friends carers).  In the early 
part of the year, it became apparent that this statutory requirement was not 
being prioritised.  The Fostering Panel fed back that there appeared to be a 
large amount of mandatory training during the first year, alongside the foster 
carer adjusting to their new role and requirements of the task.  This appeared 
to leave little time to focus on the required standards.  The training 

Page 93



8

requirement has now been adjusted and it is clear that more TSD portfolios 
are now being completed.  The service offers workshops to assist in 
completion and it is important to have a target date set for completion.

GCC expects foster carers to attend and update mandatory training within set 
timescales.  There is also an expectation in the fostering agreement to attend 
at least 4 support groups in the year.  Although foster carers sign up to this, it 
is not always adhered to.  It seems quite difficult to complete all the 
mandatory training in the first year, alongside the fostering tasks, and some 
carers have advised of cancellation of training or courses being fully booked.  

Feedback from foster carers in review sometimes reveals their concern at 
frequent changes in the social worker for the child, and on occasions, 
infrequent contact.  Respite foster carers routinely express concern at the lack 
of input or contact from the child’s social worker. Consultation forms for the 
review are not always completed by the children’s social workers but are 
extremely helpful when completed.  

The other concern expressed by some foster carers is the delay in 
reimbursement for expenses.  Some have complained about a cumbersome 
system and a hope that it could be simplified.  Fostering social workers are 
praised by foster carers for trying to resolve issues.  

There are plans to present all third reviews to panel which will enable panel to 
provide feedback to the agency on a wider range of situations and to provide 
scrutiny on the support and services offered to more experienced foster 
carers.  As yet, this has not happened because of demands on panel and staff 
time.  The Fostering Panel does, however, see reviews where exemptions 
and variations or Investigations or Standards of Care reports are presented to 
panel.

A small number of first reviews presented to panel indicate that the advice of 
the assessing social worker that foster carers should start with respite 
placements or be very carefully matched to develop experience is not always 
followed.  The panel understands that there are plans for the assessing social 
worker to remain as Fostering Social Worker to support the first year, and this 
is seen as a protective factor.  

Previous annual reviews have raised the issue of incorrect data being 
recorded on Liquid Logic.  For example, on a number of occasions the child is 
listed as a non-household member.  This can lead to future confusion and it is 
suggested that attempts need to be made to rectify the errors.  

Page 94



9

7.  Long Term matches
There have been 20 long term matches presented to panel this year.  Some 
children have court care plans for long term fostering and are in settled 
placements but have not formally been “matched” through panel; this is being 
addressed. 

Long term matches presented to panel are generally of a very good standard. 
All include photos of the children, with a report from the child social worker 
outlining their needs and progress in the placement and a consultation with 
the child’s IRO. This is accompanied by an annual review, completed by the 
Fostering Social Worker which identifies the capacity of the foster carers to 
meet the identified needs.  Panel has welcomed the attendance of both the 
social workers alongside the foster carers.  

There is a leaflet available for the children and young people to advise how 
they can communicate their views to panel.  This includes attendance if they 
wish and it is in their interest.  

8.  Exemptions and variations
There have been many requests presented to panel for exemptions where a 
foster carer is caring for four or more unrelated children, or variations where 
they are caring for children outside of the agreed terms of approval.  While the 
process for management agreement of such situations has been routinely 
followed, they have not always been presented to panel in a timely manner.  
Many are requests for retrospective consideration.  

It is unsurprising that exemptions and variations are sought when placement 
resources are under pressure.  The exemptions presented have all been for 
children placed with highly experienced and skilled foster carers but panel has 
sought assurance that each child’s individual needs can be met and that they 
have the opportunity to experience family life in households that are often very 
busy.  While there is no time limit for exemptions, fostering agencies have to 
keep them under review and it is good practice that updates are required to 
be presented to panel every six months and therefore retaining Agency 
Decision Maker oversight also.  

The Fostering Panel has expressed concern at some variations with the view 
that some foster carers may become “overloaded” or are being asked to carry 
out tasks that may prove to be beyond their current skill level or situation.  
Many appear to carry on for some considerable time, although variations were 
designed as a short-term emergency measure. 

Page 95



10

9.  Investigations and Standard of Care Reports
The Fostering Panel has welcomed the vast majority of investigative reports 
following allegations which are very thorough, with clear outcomes and 
recommendations.  Most of these are carried out by an independent social 
worker, not previously involved with the child or foster carers.  The report is 
accompanied by an annual review carried out by the fostering social worker, 
taking account of the outcome of the investigation report and overseen by the 
fostering social worker’s manager.  Both social workers accompany the foster 
carer to panel, usually with an independent social worker who has been 
offering ongoing support to the foster carers. In these instances, it is clear that 
the allegations management process has been followed and where there is no 
ongoing safeguarding action being pursued, the fostering service recognises 
the need to consider whether the foster carer requires additional support or 
indeed is no longer suitable to foster.  

In a small number of cases where the allegation is denied and there is no 
corroborative evidence, the allegation remains unsubstantiated, but the report 
is not always clear as to how the recommendations are then reached.  More 
detailed analysis would assist in these situations.  

On one or two occasions, it has been unclear to panel why a Standard of 
Care report has been presented to panel, rather than following the allegations 
management process.  The Standard of Care reports are usually completed 
by the Fostering Social Worker who supervises and supports the foster carer 
so in these situations, it is helpful if the subsequent annual review is carried 
out by an independent person.  

In both Investigation Reports and Standard of Care Reports, it is important to 
consider whether a pattern exists with earlier allegations or concerns.  In 
these instances, it is essential that all are considered in the reports presented 
and in reaching a recommendation.  

10.    Conclusion
The members of the Fostering Panel welcome the willingness of the fostering 
service to consider and act on feedback.  Individual feedback forms are 
provided to the team managers on each case presented to panel which can 
then be considered in supervision with the social worker.  

It is clear that suggestions are taken on board with improvements noted in 
completion of all the required checks, in improved completion of TSD 
portfolios in timescale and in Personal Development Plans.  In-house 
assessments are routinely comprehensive and with good analysis.  
Independently completed assessments can be more variable.   

Page 96



11

The fostering service offers a wide range of training and support opportunities 
to its foster carers and a number of foster carers transferring in from other 
agencies have commented on this.  Fostering Social Workers are in the main 
experienced and know their carers well.  They are much appreciated by the 
foster carers.  

The Fostering Panel would wish to thank the foster carers who attend panel 
and for their commitment and care offered to the children in Gloucestershire. 
GCC is fortunate to have a range of foster carers, many of whom are long-
standing and very experienced.  It is clear that both the fostering service and 
the foster carers remain child-focused in their work.

The Fostering Panel is notified about resignations to the service and it is 
pleasing to note how many of these are because SGOs or adoption has been 
the outcome for the child and carers.  There has been recent activity to deal 
with “dormant” foster carers and increased resignations as a result.  A number 
had previously given a verbal resignation, but despite repeated requests, this 
was not always confirmed in writing.  Action has now been taken to confirm 
the earlier resignation and present these to panel, increasing the number of 
resignations presented this year.  The focus on achieving permanence is 
welcomed and panel was pleased to hear from the service about the support 
in place for SGOs.  

The Fostering Panel actively seeks feedback on its own functioning, and 
foster carers and social workers are routinely asked for this.  Panel aims to 
make the experience of attending panel warm and welcoming, while 
maintaining a focus on the needs of the child above all.  

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Improvement Board Update
	5 Quality Audit Framework: Progress Update Report
	6 Revenue Monitoring
	P08 CF Nov 2017 App SC

	7 Fostering and Adoption
	annual adoption report 2016-17 DRAFT
	Foster Care Panel Annual report 2016-2017


